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Cauny oF Arrens

@ tvm

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LUIS ANGEL CASTRO, No. 78643-COA
Appellant,
VS,
THE STATE OF NEVADA, F i L E D
Respondent. OCT 23 2%

A BROWN

S T
ORDER DENYING REHEARING

Rehearing denied. NRAP 40(c).
It is so ORDERED.!

~
Z V_/L@Eﬁ , Cd.
G

ibbons

Tao Bulla

cc:  Hon. Jerry A. Wiese, District Judge
Jdean J. Schwartzer
Attorney General/Carson City
Clark County District Attorney
Eighth District Court Clerk

lAppellant did not object to the sentencing court’s statement that
credit for time served did not matter. He thus failed to preserve the
presentence credit issue below. And, despite bearing the burden of
demonstrating plain error, see Miller v. State, 121 Nev. 92, 99, 110 P.3d 53,
58 (2005), appellant failed to argue plain error in his opening brief on
appeal. Accordingly, we declined to review this error on appeal.
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atis AL Castno

FILED
JUN 07 202

2B Rt (2 usdy
P.0. vge 1899
3 =ty . €3304
4
5
6
7
8 IN THE __ Bt DISTRICT COURT OF THE
9 STATE OF NEVADA IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF <t » .-
10 | A-21-835827-W
Y Luis Aneet Casrrs CASE NUMBER: Dept. 30
12 Petitioner, -
130 vs EX PARTE MOTION FOR
APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL AND
14 REQUEST FOR EVIDEN TIARY
HEARING
3 ;Wardén; State of Nevada,
16 Respondents,
17
18 COMESNOW,Luws A, Costag  the Petitioner, in proper person, and moves this Court
19 | for its order allowing the appointment of counsel for Petitioner and for an cvidentiary hearing. This

20 || motion is made and based in the interest of justice.

~1
E COURT

Pursuant to NRS 34.750(1):
A petition may allege that the petitioner is unabie to pay the costs of the

proceedings or to employ counsel. If the court is satisfied that the
allegation of indigency is true and the petitioner is not dismissed
summé.rily, the court may appoint counsel to represent the petitioner. In
making its determination, the court may consider, among other things, the
severity of the consequences facing the petitioner and whether:

(a) The issues presented are difficult;

(b) ’:f'.'he petitioner is unable to comprehend the proceedings; or

24
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10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

(¢)  Counsel is necessary to proceed with discovery.

Petitioner is presently incarcerated at _ ELN STacrer Pruson) _,is

indigent and unable to retain private counsel to represent him.

Petitioner is unlearned and unfamiliar with the complexities of Nevada state law, particularly
state post-conviction proceedings. Further, Petitioner alleges that the issues in this case are complex and
require an evidentiary hearing, Petitioner is unable to factually develop and adequately present the

claims without the assistance of counsel. Counsel is unable to adequately present the claims without an

evidentiary hearing.

Dated this \)__dayof Mg . 202\
B S A

25
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that he is a person of such age and discretion as to be competent

to serve papers.

That on ihgg, \ 9 , 203\, he served a copy of the foregoing Ex Parte Motion for

Appointment of Counsel and Request for Evidentiary Hearing by personally mailing said copy to:

District Attorney’s Office

Address:
200 Lewse AENue

Las Jegps Nevada
2G5 -221%

Warden - W t{1an, G TTORC
Address: o oy 19 €9
ey, Ny, ¥9201

26




AFFIRMATION
Pursuant to NRS 2398.030

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding B Yaares

Monon, Tor Apprs ¢ C,om.raco# Kog,, For B0 ouninag M
(Title of Document) v - '

filed In District Court Case number Crl-3( 40921

[
IZ/ Does not contain the soclal security number of any person.

-OR-

O  Contains the soclal security number of a person as required by:
A. A spedific stats or federal law, to wit:
(State specific law)

~of-

/ .
Al HIS Apne] Cm oo

Print Name

Title

27



THIS SEALED
DOCUMENT,
NUMBERED PAGE(S)
28
WILL FOLLOW VIA
U.S. MAIL
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THIS SEALED
DOCUMENT,
NUMBERED PAGE(S)
29 - 34
WILL FOLLOW VIA
U.S. MAIL
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Electronically Filed

L 06/10/2021 1314 P
%L&/ %L’&a N

=

CLERK OF THE COURT
4 PPOWY
2
3 DISTRICT COURT
4 CLARK COUNTY, NEYADA
3 || Luis Angel Castro,
5 Petitioner, Case Moy A-Z1-833827-W
Department 30
7 Vs,
State of Nevada,
3 » ORDER FOR PETITION FOR
Respondent, WRIT OF HABEAS CORFPUS
5
10
11 Petitioner filed o Petition for ¥Wait of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction Relief) on

12 || June 07,2021, The Court hag reviewsd the Petition and hag determined that a response would agsist the
13 Court in determining whether Petitioner is illegally imprisoned and restrained of his/her liberty, and good
14 || cause appearing therefore,

15 1T18 HEREBY ORDERED that Respondent shall, within 45 days after the date of this Order,
15 || @nsweror otherwise respond to the Petition and file a return In accordance with the provisions of NRS

34,360 to 32,830, inclusive,

17
13 IT 18 HERERY TURTHER ORDERED that this matter shall be placed on this Court’s
9 26TH AUCUST 21 2:30
Calendar on the _pqr  day of 20 , at the hour of
2@ Fgiv A
21
o’clock for further proceedings.
22 Dated this 10th day of Junz, 2021
TN
E }' < ¢l
23 / A e
L 0= N
2 i (e
! LY

25 -l

i DistrictCatfit Judge
26

849 C80 BOSB 0BA2
27 Jerry A, Wisse
District Cowrt Judge
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11
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14
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17
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20
21
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27

28

CSERYV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
Luis Castro, Plaintiff(s) CASE NO: A-21-835827-W
VS, DEPT. NO. Department 30

State of Nevada, Defendant(s)

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Electronic service was attempted through the Eighth Judicial District Court's
electronic filing system, but there were no registered users on the case.

If indicated below, a copy of the above mentioned filings were also served by mail
via United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, to the parties listed below at their last
known addresses on 6/11/2021

Luis Castro #1214547
ESP
P.O. Box 1989
Ely, NV, 89301
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Electronically Filed
6/16/2021 7:25 AM
Steven D. Grierson

DISTRICT COURT CLERK OF THE CC
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA &;ﬁ*‘é ﬂh

wskskk
Luis Castro, Plaintiff(s) Case No.: A-21-835827-W
Vs.
State of Nevada, Defendant(s) Department 30

NOTICE OF HEARING

Please be advised that the Plaintif's Motion for Appointment of Attorney and Request
for Evidentiary Hearing in the above-entitled matter is set for hearing as follows:
Date: August 26, 2021
Time: 8:30 AM

Location: RJIC Courtroom 14A
Regional Justice Center
200 Lewis Ave.
Las Vegas, NV 83101
NOTE: Under NEFCR 9(d), if a party is not receiving electronic service through the
Eighth Judicial District Court Electronic Filing System, the movant requesting a

hearing must serve this notice on the party by traditional means.

STEVEN D. GRIERSON, CEO/Clerk of the Court

By: /s/Michelle McCarthy
Deputy Clerk of the Court

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

T hereby certify that pursuant to Rule 9(b) of the Nevada Electronic Filing and Conversion
Rules a copy of this Notice of Hearing was electronically served to all registered users on
this case in the Eighth Judicial District Court Electronic Filing System.

By: /s/Michelle McCarthy
Deputy Clerk of the Court

Case Number: A-21-835827-W
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Jose A. Castro

Angeles Castro

3501 Kidd Street

North Las Vegas NV 89032

Re: Luis Angel Castro Morales

To whom this may concern:

We hired attorney Warren Geller in 2016, we paid $85,000.00 for him to defend Luis Angel Castro Morales
in the Case between the State of Nevada against Luis Angel Castro Morales, the Jose Ortiz Salazar Case
where he was charged with numerous crimes.

We were told by the attorney that the case would be difficult and that all four defendants would be
prosecuted separately.

After months of deliberation, we were told that a plea deal had been reached where Luis Angel Castro if
pled guilty would receive a sentence of 15-25 years in prison. As Parents, we understand there are
consequences to the actions taken by our Son, we advised Luis Angel Castro to take the deal instead of
going thru trial, which he did.

Upon the sentencing of his case, all four defendants were charged together, not separately, all four
defendants received the same outcome, Life in Prison.

If we would have known that they would of all been charged together, we would have gone to trial, Luis
Angel Castro signed a deal and to be charged separately, therefore | do not understand and until this day
have not received a clear answer as in to why the Judge charged them together instead of each separately.

I am requesting the courts to open the case of Luis Angel Castro Morales and charge him separately, he
did not receive a fair trial nor the opportunity to defend himself,

We understand and we do nat deny that him being with the wrong crowd would get him into trouble, we
ask what needs to be done to open his case again.

Attorney William Geller did not defend Luis Angel Castro Morales, took $85,000.00 from us and ask you
please open his case.

Castro Moreno 3
Father of Luis Angel Castro Morales Mother of Luis Angel Castro
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Electronically Filed
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Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE CC
RSPN w ﬂu«m«

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

JOHN NIMAN

Depugf District Attorney
Nevada Bar #14408

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

LUIS ANGEL CASTRO,
#1918366

Plaintiff,

vs- CASENO: A-21-835827-W

THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPTNO: XXX

Defendant.

STATE’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS
CORPUS (POST CONVICTION - NRS 34.740) AND TO WITHDRAW GUILTY
PLEA (PURSUANT TO NRS 176.165), AND SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT
OF PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

DATE OF HEARING: AUGUST 26, 2021
TIME OF HEARING: 8:30 AM -

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County
District Attorney, through JOHN NIMAN, Deputy District Attorney, and hereby submits the
attached Points and Authorities in Response to Defendant’s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus
(Post Conviction - NRS 34.740) and to Withdraw Guilty Plea (Pursuant to NRS 176.165), and
Supplemental Brief in Support of Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.

This response is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if
deemed necessary by this Honorable Court.

/
/"

V:\2016\1121081201611208C-RSPN-(LUIS ANGEL CASTRO)-001.DOCX

Case Number: A-21-835827-W
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 10, 2016, Luis Angel Castro (hereinafter “Petitioner”) was charged by way
of Criminal Complaint as follows: Count 1- Conspiracy to Commit Murder (Category B
Felony); Count 2 - Attempted Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony) ;
Count 3 - Mayhem (Category B Felony); Count 4 - Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon
Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm (Category B Felony); Count 5 - First Degree Kidnapping
with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony); Count 6 - Extortion with Use of a Deadly
Weapon (Category B Felony); Count 7 - Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B
Felony) ; Count 8 - First Degree Arson (Category B Felony). He was one (1) of four (4) co-
defendants.

On April 12, 2019, Petitioner was bound up to the District Court on all charges
following a preliminary hearing.

After four (4) continued trial dates, Petitioner and his co-defendants ultimately pled
guilty on the first day of trial. Petitioner pled guilty to one count of First-Degree Kidnapping
Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm (Category A Felony). Pursuant to the Guilty Plea
Agreement (“GPA™): “This offer is condition upon all four (4) Defendants accepting their
respective negotiations and being sentenced. All Parties agree the State will have the right to
argue for Life without the possibility of Parole, and the Defense will argue for Life with the
possibility of Parole after fifteen (15) years. All Parties agree that no one will seek a term of
years."

On March 22, 2019, the State filed a Sentencing Memorandum. On March 24, 2019,
Petitioner filed a Sentencing Memorandum on Behalf of Defendant Luis Castro (“Petitioner’s
Sentencing Memo™). On March 26, 2019, Petitioner was sentenced to life without the
possibility of Parole in the Nevada Department of Corrections.

On November 24, 2020, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed Petitioner’s Judgment of
Conviction. Remittitur tssued on November 17, 2020.

1

2
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On June 7, 2021, Petitioner filed a pro per Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-
Conviction) (“I"etition”), a Motion for Appointment of Counsel, and a Request for an
Evidentiary Hearing on the Petition. On July 6, 2021, Petitioner filed a Supplement to Petition
for Writ of Habeas Corpus (“Supplemental Petition™).! On July 14, 2021, Petitioner filed
Memorandum of Facts and Law In Support of Petitioner’s Motion for Appointment of Counsel
(*Memo In Support™) and various other pleadings.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At sentencing, the district court relied on the following facts contained on pages 6-7 of

Petitioner’s Presentence Investigation Report (“PSI”):

On March 7, 2016, officers received a call in reference to a residential
fire and of a male with a slit throat exiting the same residence. The caller
reported that the victim was possibly tied up.

Paramedics arrived on the scene and advised there were several
citizens around the victim attempting to provide first aid. The paramedics
observed that the victim had both legs bound together by a cord at his
ankles and knees. The paramedics removed the bindings. The victim had
several injuries including: multiple stab wounds to his chest, back and right
arm, his right pinky finger was partially amputated, his fingernails were
pulled off from his right index and middle fingers, there was a laceration to
his right thumb and a deep laceration to his throat/neck. The paramedics
reported that it appeared that the victim was tortured. The victim was
treated by paramedics and transported to a local hospital. The victim was
unable to be interviewed the night of the incident as he was undergoing
numerous surgeries and was heavily sedated.

Officers and detectives arrived on the scene and set a perimeter around
the crime scene while firefighters battled the residential fire. Detectives
interviewed each witness individually on scene. All witnesses confirmed
that they noticed the residence on fire and when they pulled over to assist,
they observed the victim with his legs bound, with several injuries. On
March 8, 2016, detectives canvassed the area and spoke to surrounding
neighbors. The neighbors advised seeing a pickup truck with two males and
two females at the victim’s residence.

! Upen filing a Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus. NRS 34.750(5) prohibits a petitioner from filing any additional
pleadings or supplements. except for those specifically provided for in subsections (2)-(4), unless ordered by the Court.
Because Petitioner’s Supplemental Petition and Memo in Support were filed after he filed his Petition and filed without
leave of this Court. the pleadings should be stricken and/or any new claims or allegations contained therein should net-be
summarily denied.
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Detectives arrived to the local hospital to attempt to speak to the
victim. He was unable to speak due to his injuries; however, he was
responsive and wished to attempt to provide information to the detectives.
He was able to provide information regarding his identity and his
girlfriend’s identity. When asked how many suspects committed the crime
against him, he raised four fingers. When asked who committed the crime
against him, the victim mouthed the name Angel Castro, who was
identified as a defendant Luis Angel Castro.

Detectives were able to make contact with the victim’s girlfriend. She
stated that on March 6, 2016, her vehicle had broken down while the victim
was driving it and he asked his friend Angel Castro for a tow back to his
girlfriend’s home. The victim’s girlfriend stated that the victim told her he
was going to pay Mr. Castro $50.00 in United States currency for the tow.
She stated on March 7, 2016 the victim was still at her residence with a
mechanic when Mr. Castro arrived in a pickup truck with two other males.
Mr. Castro demanded the tow money from the victim and the other male
made mention that he had a firearm inside the truck. The victim then agreed
to leave with the three males in the truck. The victim’s girlfriend reported
that she had not heard from the victim for several hours so she attempted
to contact several friends of his to see if anyone had heard from him. One
of his friends told her that the victim had contacted him asking for $300.00
in United States currency. He stated that he heard a female in the
background apparently coaching him on what to say.

Detectives returned to the hospital and continued to interview the
victim. The victim reported he was taken in a pickup truck to an unknown
house. Once at the home, Mr. Castro bound the victim’s hands/wrists and
ankles/knees. He stated that he remembers making three phone calls asking
for $300.00 in United States currency. The victim reported that one of the
males cut his finger and hand with a machete and stabbed him multiple
times about his body with a knife. He reported that all four suspects cut his
throat/neck. The victim stated that he was tortured before, during and after
he made the phone calls. He reported after the four suspects took turn
cutting his throat/neck, the victim faked as if he died. After believing the
victim was dead, the unknown male started the fire and all the suspects left
the house. Once all the suspects left, the victim stated he was able to get
out of the home, where he was assisted by people going by. The victim
stated that the only thing the suspects took from him was a pack of
cigarettes.

During the course of the investigation, detectives were able to identify
the co-defendant Edward Honabach as the driver of the pickup truck. Both
the victim and his girlfriend were able to identify Angel Castro and Edward
Honabach from a lineup. Detectives went to Mr. Honabach’s residence and
took Mr. Honabach and Mr. Castro into custody. Also, present at the
residence were two females. One of the females was identified as the co-
defendant Fabiola Jimenez. A photo lineup with Ms. Jimenez in it was
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presented to the victim who confirmed that Ms. Jimenez was present and
involved in his torturc. A search of Mr. Honabach’s residence was
completed where detectives found numerous knives inside the home and
the vehicle. They also found a machete and twine inside the vehicle.

On March 10, 2016, detectives interviewed Ms. Jimenez. She
confessed to being present during the brutal attempt murder and arson
where the incident occurred. Her version of the incident was similar to the
victim’s account. She stated that on March 7. 2016, Mr. Honabach, Mr.
Castro and an unknown male went to pick up the victim. Ms. Jimenez
reported that the victim owed $200.00 in United States currency for a drug
debt. A short time later, Mr. Honabach, Mr. Castro and the unknown male
arrived with the victim to the residence the incident occurred at. Ms.
Jimenez was already present at the residence as Mr. Castro and Mr.
Honabach had dropped her off prior to picking up the victim. Once inside
the residence, Mr. Honabach and Mr. Castro confronted the victim about
the money he owed them. The victim told them he was working on getting
the money and asked Mr. Honabach and Mr. Castro for another week to
pay off the debt. Mr. Honabach and Mr. Castro became physical with the
victim and forced him into a chair and bound his hands and legs with rope
found in the home. Ms. Jimenez reported that Mr. Honabach, Mr. Castro
and the unknown male started punching the victim. Mr. Honabach then
brandished a pocket knife and stabbed the victim three times in his right
shoulder area. The victim pleaded for them to stop. Mr. Honabach asked
Mr. Castro what he wanted to do and Mr. Castro stated “we have gone this
far, let’s finish it.” At that point, Mr. Honabach pulled the victim’s hair and
Mr. Castro took the knife and cut the victim’s throat. Ms. Jimenez advised
that they all believed the victim to be dead so began to gather paper
materials and household chemicals which they poured on the victim. Mr.
Castro told Ms. Jimenez to leave the residence at that point and she did.
She stated that before she left she saw Mr. Honabach and Mr. Castro with
lighters in their hands. Once outside, Ms. Jimenez saw the flames coming
from the house and that is when Mr. Honabach and Mr. Castro left the
residence. They then got into the vehicle and left. Ms. Jimenez reported she
did not know where the unknown male had gone. She stated that she did
believe the victim was dead and confirmed that she did not call the police
to stop the brutal attack. Ms. Jimenez denied participating in the actual
stabbing or setting the house on fire. Initially, she denied being with Mr.
Castro and Mr. Honabach; however, eventually did admit being present at
the house during the attack and that she does not like the victim.

On March 10, 2016, Angel Castro was arrested and transported to
Clark County Detention Center where he was booked accordingly.

5
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ARGUMENT

A Writ of Habeas Corpus is the mechanism for a person who believes he or she is
unlawfully being “committed, detained, confined or restrained of his or her liberty” to “inquire
into the cause of imprisonment or restraint.”” NRS 34.360. Claims other than challenges to the
validity of a guilty plea and ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel must be raised
on direct appeal “or they will be considered waived in subsequent proceedings.” Franklin v.
State, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994) (emphasis added) (disapproved on other
grounds by Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999)). “A court must dismiss a

habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been presented in an earlier
proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the claims earlier or for
raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner.” Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646-
47,29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001). Where a petitioner does not show good cause for failure to raise
claims of error upon direct appeal, the district court is not obliged to consider their merits in
post-conviction proceedings. Jones v. State, 91 Nev. 416, 536 P.2d 1025 (1975). Further,
substantive claims—even those disguised as ineffective assistance of counsel claims—are
beyond the scope of habeas and waived. NRS 34.724(2)(a); Evans, 117 Nev. at 64647, 29
P.3d at 523; Franklin, 110 Nev. at 752, 877 P.2d at 1059.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held “that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove the
disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of

the evidence.”™ Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004). Furthermore,

claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a petition for post-conviction relief must
be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to

relief. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). “Bare™ and “naked”

allegations are not sufficient to warrant post-conviction relief, nor are those belied and repelled
by the record. Id. “A claim is ‘belied” when it is contradicted or proven to be false by the record
as it existed at the time the claim was made.” Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 354, 46 P.3d 1228,
1230 (2002). A proper petition for post-conviction relief must set forth specific factual

1
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allegations supporting the claims made and cannot rely on conclusory claims for relief. N.R.S.

34.735(6). Fatlure to do so will result in a dismissal of the petition. 1d.

L. PETITIONER IS NOT ENTITLED TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA
Petitioner argues that his guilty plea was involuntary because he was mentally

incompetent during the plea canvass and “did not have the mental capacity or fully understand

his rights and did not know what he was facing when he pled guilty.” Petition at 4-5. In support

of this claim, Petitioner explains that he was on suicide watch in the days before his entry of
plea and that his suicidality renders him incapable of knowingly pleading guilty. Id. at 3.
Petitioner claims that his responses during the plea canvass do not establish that he
competently entered his plea because he did not understand the consequences of his plea. Id.
at 5-6. Petitioner believes that an evidentiary hearing will establish that his mental condition
at the time he entered his plea rendered his plea invalid. Id. at 6. Petitioner’s claim is belied by
the record.

To determine whether a guilty plea was voluntarily entered, the Court will review the
totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea. Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271, 721
P.2d at 367. A proper plea canvass should reflect that:

[T]he defendant knowingly waived his privilege against self-incrimination,
the right to trial by jury, and the right to confront his accusers; (2) the plea
was voluntary, was not coerced, and was not the result of a promise of
leniency; (3) the defendant understood the consequences of his plea and the

range of punishments; and (4) the defendant understood the nature of the
charge, i.e., the elements of the crime.

Wilson v. State, 99 Nev. 362, 367, 664 P.2d 328, 331 (1983) (citing Higby v. Sheriff, 86 Nev.
774, 476 P.2d 950 (1970)).
The presence and advice of counsel is a significant factor in determining the

voluntariness of a plea of guilty. Patton v. Warden, 91 Nev. 1, 2, 530 P.2d 107, 107 (1975). A

plea of guilty is presumptively valid, particularly where it is entered into on the advice of
counsel, and the burden is on a defendant to show that the plea was not voluntarily entered.
Bryant, 102 Nev. at 272, 721 P.2d at 368 (citing Wingfield v. State, 91 Nev. 336, 337, 535
P.2d 1295, 1295 (1975)); Jezierski v. State, 107 Nev. 395, 397, 812 P.2d 355, 356 (1991).

7
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This standard requires the court accepting the plea to personally address the defendant
at the time he enters his plea in order to determine whether he understands the nature of the
charges to which he is pleading. Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271, 721 P.2d at 367. A court may not
rely simply on a written plea agreement without some verbal interaction with a defendant. Id.
Thus, a “colloquy™ is constitutionally mandated and a “colloquy™ is but a conversation in a
formal setting, such as that occurring between an official sitting in judgment of an accused at
plea. Id. During a plea canvass of the contents of a GPA, the trial court must personally
address a defendant to determine whether he understands the nature of the charges to which
he is pleading. State v. Freese, 116 Nev. 1097, 1105, 13 P.3d 442, 448 (2000). While no
uniform language is required, Heffley v. Warden, 89 Nev. 573, 575, 516 P.2d 1403, 1404

(1973), requires the record reflect the following: 1) the defendant knowingly waived his
privilege against self-incrimination, the right to trial by jury, and the right to confront his
accusers; 2) the plea was voluntary, was not coerced, and was not the result of a promise of
leniency; 3) the defendant understood the consequences of his plea and the range of
punishment; anci 4) the defendant understood the nature of the charge, i.c., the elements of the

crime. Higby v. Sheriff, 86 Nev. 774, 781, 476 P.2d 950, 963 (1970). Importantly, “the record

must affirmatively disclose that a defendant is entering his plea understandingly and

voluntarily.” Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 747-748, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 1470 (1970).

Even when courts endeavor to give defendants who hastily entered their plea the
opportunity to withdraw their plea, defendants cannot claim that the pressure of time or a fast
approaching trial coerced them into accepting a plea. Stevenson v. State, 131 Nev. 598, 605,

354 P.3d 1277, 1281 (2015) (citing Miles v. Dorsey, 61 F.3d 1459, 1470 (10™ Cir. 1995)).

“Undue coercion occurs when a ‘defendant is induced by promises or threats which deprive
the plea of the nature of a voluntary act.”™ Id. Time constraints and pressure exist in every
criminal case, are hallmarks of pretrial discussions and do not individually or in the aggregate
make a plea involuntary. 1d. at 605, 354 P.3d at 1281 (quroting Miles, 61 F.3d at 1470). Instead,

1113

the key inquiry for determining the validity of a plea is ““whether the plea itself was a voluntary
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and intelligent c!hoice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.”” 1d. at

604-05, 354 P.3d at 1281, (quoting Doe v. Woodford, 508 F. 3d 563, 570 (9" Cir. 2007)).
Here, as an initial matter, Petitioner attempts to draw similarities between this case and

Wilkens v. Bowerson, 145 P.3d 1006 (8th Cir. 1998).2 Petition at 6. Eighth Circuit case law is
irrelevant and inapplicable here, particularly in light of the fact that the totality of the

circumstances establish that Petitioner’s plea was voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently

entered.

Regardless, the totality of the circumstances establish that Petitioner’s plea was
knowingly and voluntarily entered. First, Petitioner signed his GPA and affirmed that he was
“signing this agreement voluntarily, after consultation with [his] attorney, and [was] not acting
under duress or coercion[.]” GPA, at 5. Petitioner further affirmed that he was not “under the
influence of any intoxicating liquor, a controlled substance or other drug which would in any
manner impair [his] ability to comprehend or understand [the] agreement or the proceedings

surrounding [the] entry of [the] plea.” GPA, at 5.
Next. despite Petitioner’s claim to the contrary, his answers during his plea colloquy

were not perfunctory affirmations. Petitioner’s answers during the plea canvass further belies
any claim that Petitioner was not competent to plead guilty or did not understand what he was

pleading guilty to:

THE COURT: Have you seen a copy of the amended information I this case
charging you with first degree kidnapping resulting in substantial bodily harm which
is a category A. Have you seen that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Did you have a chance to read that and discuss it with your attorney?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, [ have.

THE COURT: With regard to that charge, first degree kidnapping resulting in
substantial bodily harm, how do you plead, guilty or not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: Before 1 can accept your plea of guilty, I have to be convinced that
your plea is freely and voluntarily made. Are you making your plea freely and
voluntarily?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I am, sir.

2 It appears that Petitioner has miscited this case because, despite the State’s best efforts, it has been unable to locate this
case.

9
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THE COURT: Has anybody forced you or coerced you to enter that plea?
THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Are you making that plea because you’re, in fact, guilty of that
charge?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir

[---]

THE COURT: In looking at the guilty plea agreement, it looks like you
signed this on page 5. It’s dated February 4. Did you read and sign that
today?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Did you understand it before you signed it?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

[...]

THE COURT: Are you currently suffering from any emotional or physical
distress that’s caused you to enter this plea?

THE DEFENDAT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Are you currently under the influence of any alcohol,
medication, narcotics or any substance that might affect your ability to
understand these documents or the process that we’re going through?
THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

Recorder’s Transcript of Hearing — Entry of Plea (“RT: EOP”), at45-6 (February 4, 2019)

(emphasis added).

Additionally, Petitioner’s allegation that his plea was invalid because he was on suicide
watch in the days preceding his guilty plea is nothing but a bare and naked claim that his
unsupported by the record. According to the sentencing memorandum filed by counsel prior
to sentencing, Petitioner received three neuropsychological evaluations on February 21, March

5, and March 7, 2019, after he entered his plea. Petitioner’s Sentencing Memo at 11. However,

the only suicide attempt mentioned in those evaluations is an incident from years prior to
Petitioner’s incarceration. Id. at 15. Therefore, the claim that Petitioner was on suicide watch
is unfounded and belied by the report provided by the defense in preparation of sentencing.

Accordingly, Petitioner’s claim that he was not competent to plead guilty fails.

1I. PETITIONER’S GUILTY PLEA WAS ENTERED INTO WITH EFFECTIVE
ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL
Petitioner argues that trial counsel was ineffective during the plea process because (1)

counsel did not inform him of the possible immigration consequences; (2) counsel should have

10
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revealed that Peititioner was not the “shotcaller” and was not at the convenience store when
the charged crim:es were committed; (3) counsel intimidated Petitioner and lied to Petitioner’s
mother in order to get Petitioner to plead guilty; (4) that counsel promised him a sentence of
fifteen (15) years to life; and (4) because he was ultimately sentenced to a term of life without
the possibility of parole, which he believed rendered his plea invalid because “he did not
benefit from the plea agreement.” Petition at 9-10. Additionally, Petitioner acknowledges that
his sentence is legal but believes that his sentence is disproportionate and shocks the
conscience because he did not have any prior criminal history, there was no evidence of his
DNA at the crime scene, and Petitioner suffers from various mental conditions. Id. at 10-11.
Petitioners claim fails.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, “[i]n all criminal
prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his

defense.” The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that “the right to counsel is

the right to the effective assistance of counsel.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686,
104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); see also State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323
(1993).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove

he was denied “reasonably effective assistance™ of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of
Strickland, 466 US at 686-87, 104 S. Ct. at 2063—64. See also Love, 109 Nev. at 1138, 865
P.2d at 323. Under the Strickland test, a defendant must show first that his counsel's
representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for
counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have
been different. 466 U.S. at 687-88, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2065, 2068; Warden, Nevada State Prison
v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the Strickland two-part test).

“[T]here is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the
inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant
makes an insufficient showing on one.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct. at 2069.

I
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The court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine
whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was

ineffective. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004). “Effective counsel

does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is ‘[w]ithin the range of

competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.”” Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 432,

537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975). Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections
or arguments. See Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006).

Based on the above law, the role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective
assistance of counsel is “not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine
whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render

reasonably effective assistance.” Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711

(1978). This analysis does not mean that the court should “second guess reasoned choices
between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against
allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the
possibilities are of success.” Id. To be effective, the constitution “does not require that counsel
do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel
cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade.”

United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984).

“There alle countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the
best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.”
Strickland. 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 689. “Strategic choices made by counsel after
thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable.” Dawson v. State,

108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); see also Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784

P.2d 951. 953 (1989). In essence, the court must “judge the reasonableness of counsel's
challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's
conduct.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066.

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for advice regarding a guilty

plea, a defendant must show *gross error on the part of counsel.” Turner v. Calderon, 281 F.3d
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851, 880 (9th Cir. 2002). When a conviction is the result of a guilty plea, a defendant must
show that there Iis a “reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, he would not have
pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.” Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59,
106 S.Ct. 366, 370 (1985) (emphasis added); see also Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 988, 923
P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996); Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 190-91, 87 P.3d 533, 537 (2004).

Ultimately. while it is counsel’s duty to candidly advise a defendant regarding a plea offer, the
decision of whether or not to accept a plea offer is the defendant’s. Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev.
1,8,38 P.3d 163, 163 (2002). Further, substantive claims—even those disguised as ineffective
assistance of counsel claims—are beyond the scope of habeas and waived. NRS 34.724(2)(a);
Evans, 117 Nev. at 646-47, 29 P.3d at 523; Franklin, 110 Nev. at 752, 877 P.2d at 1059.
Here. Petitioner’s signature on his GPA and answers during his plea canvass belie any
claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Taking each challenge in turn, first, Petitioner’s
claim that counsel did not discuss the consequences of a plea on Petitioner’s immigration status
it is completely unfounded and belied by the record. By signing the GPA, where Petitioner
affirmed that he did understand the immigration consequences. GPA, at 3-4. Moreover, during

the plea canvass, Petitioner and his attorney discussed the immigration consequences:

THE COURT: Based on all the facts and circumstances, are you satisfied
with the services of your attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Are you a U.S. citizen?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Do you understand that there are some charges that have
adverse immigration consequences and may result in deportation?

THE DEFENDANT: That is correct.

THE COURT: Have you had the chance to discuss any immigration issues
with your attorney, and he’s answered any questions you have?

THE DEFENDANT: To this point, yes and no, but I’ll just say yes.

MR. GELLER: Judge, I can represent to the Court, I’ve been in touch
with his immigration attorney, and we’ve been in communication. I did
let my client know today, as well as previously, that there’s substantial
probability he’ll be deported after he serves a period of incarceration.
THE COURT: Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

13
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THE COURT: You sill agree with the terms as set forth in the guilty plea
agreement?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
RT: EOP, at 7-8 {(emphasis added).
Further, this claim is belied by the record at sentencing. In the Sentencing Memo,
counsel stated, “the parole board may deem it appropriate to release him to Immigration and

Customs Enforcement for removal from the United States.” Petitioner’s Sentencing Memo at

7-8. During sentencing, counsel also referenced the possibility of Petitioner’s deportation to
Mexico multiple times and even used that fact to argue in favor of possible parole. Recorder’s

Transcript of Proceedings Sentencing (*Sentencing Proceedings™), at 7,10 (March 26, 2019).

Specifically, counsel stated, “There is an ICE hold. If...the Court...granted the defense’s
request for parole eligibility at 15 years...the parole board would have the option to say, you
know what federal government, now you can take Mr. Castro and deport him to Mexico...if
the Court sentences him to life without, no matter what the circumstances are, we’re always
going to be paying for his incarceration.” Id. at 7-8. Additionally, Petitioner addressed the
court and made no mention that he was never informed of or advised about potential
immigration consequences. Id. at 10-11. Therefore, Petitioner’s claim that he was not aware
of the consequences of immigration fails as it is belied by the record.

Second. Petitioner’s claim that counsel should have challenged the evidence against
him is nothing but a substantive claim disguised as a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.
Regardless. Petitioner’s guilty plea waived counsel’s duty to challenge the evidence against
him. Evans, 117 Nev. at 64647, 29 P.3d at 523; Franklin, 110 Nev. at 752, 877 P.2d at 1059.

It is therefore inappropriately raised in the instant Petition and suitable only for summary

denial.
Additionally, when Petitioner signed the GPA, he acknowledged that he understood
that he was waiving his right to a jury trial:

By entering my plea of guilty, 1 understand that I am waiving and forever
giving up the following rights and privileges:

1. The constitutional privilege against self-incrimination, including
the right to refuse to testify at trial, in which event the prosecution
would not be allowed to comment to the jury about my refusal to
testify.
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The constitutional right to a speedy and public trial by an
mmpartial jury, free of excessive pretrial publicity prejudicial to
the defense, at which trial I would be entitled to the assistance of
an attorney, either appointed or retained. At trial the State would
bear the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt each
element of the offense(s) charged.
3. The constitutional right to confront and cross-examine any
witnesses who would testify against me.
4.  The constitutional right to subpoena witnesses to testify on my
behalf.
5. The constitutional right to testify in my own defense.
GPA at 4.

Moreover, during the plea canvass, Petitioner confirmed that he was waiving his right
to challenge the evidence at trial:

THE COURT: Also by signing that document, you're agreeing to waive
certain important constitutional rights like the right to be able to confront
your accuser, go to trial and put on evidence on your own behalf. You
understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: | understand, sir.

RT: EOP, at 5-6.

Further, Petitioner has failed to articulate what other investigations or challenges to the
evidence counsel should have engaged in prior to Petitioner’s guilty plea that would have
resulted in Petitioner asserting his right to a jury trial in lieu of a guilty plea. This failure is
fatal. Hill. 474 U.S. at 59, 106 S.Ct. at 370 (1985). Accordingly, counsel cannot be deemed
ineffective.

Third. Petitioner’s claim that counsel intimidated and lied in order to induce Petitioner
into pleading guilty is a bare and naked allegation suitable only for summary denial. In signing
the GPA, Petitioner confirmed that counsel “answered all of [Petitioner’s] questions regarding
[the] guilty plea agreement and its consequences to [Petitioner’s] satisfaction and [Petitioner

was] satisfied by the services provided by [his] attorney.”
Specifically, Petitioner further confirmed that he was satisfied with counsel during his

plea canvass and affirmed that he had not been threatened into pleading guilty:

THE COURT: Did you have a chance to read [the amended information] and

discuss it with your attorney?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have.

15
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THE COURT: Before I can accept your plea of guilty, I have to be convinced
that your plea is freely and voluntarily made. Are you making your plea freely
and voluntarily?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, [ am, sir.

THE COURT: Has anybody forced you or coerced you to enter that plea?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Are you making that plea because you’re, in fact, guilty of that charge?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Has anybody made any promises or guarantees to you other than
what’s been stated in open court and what’s contained in the guilty plea agreement?
THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

[..]

THE COURT: You had a chance to discuss [the guilty plea agreement] with your
attorney, and he answered any questions you might have about it?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, | have.

[---]

THE COURT: Do you have any questions that you want to ask of myself or the
State or your counsel before we proceed?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Based on all the facts and circumstances, are you satisfied with
the services of your attorney?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

RT: EOP, at 4-7.

Accordingly, any claim of threats or dissatisfaction must fail.

Fourth, Petitioner’s claim that counsel promised him a sentence of fifteen (15) years to

life, or any other sentence, is a bare and naked claim that is entirely belied by the record.
Petitioner’s signed GPA first states that pursuant to the negotiations, while counsel could argue
for a sentence of fifteen (15) years to life, Petitioner understood he was not guaranteed that

sentence:

[ have not been promised or guaranteed any particular sentence by
anyone. I know that my sentence is to be determined by the Court within
the limits prescribed by statute.

I understand that if my attorney or the State of Nevada or both
recommend any specific punishment to the Court, the Court is not obligated
to accept the recommendation.

GPA at 3.
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Petitioner’s answers during the plea canvass further confirms that Petitioner understood
the terms of the negotiations and belie any claim that he believed he would receive a particular

sentence:

THE COURT: Do you understand that in the guilty plea agreement it says
that the possibility of sentence is 15 to 40 years or for minimum of 15 years
and a maximum of life or life without parole? Do you understand that those
are the options?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you understand that sentencing is strictly up to the Court,
and nobody can promise you probation, leniency, or any kind of special
treatment; correct?

THE DEFENDANT: That's correct.

RT: EQP, at 6.
While counsel indeed argued during sentencing that Petitioner should receive a

sentence of fifteen (15) years to life (Sentencing Proceedings, at 10,) that the Court did not

honor that request does not render counsel deficient. Accordingly, any claim that he was |
promised a sentence outside of the negotiations contained in the GPA are belied by the record.

Fifth. Petitioner’s claim that his sentence of life without the possibility of parole
suggests that counsel was ineffective during the plea negotiations fails. In preparation for
sentencing, counsel filed a sixty-eight (68) page sentencing memo, which included a detailed
history of Petitioner’s upbringing, a neuropsychological evaluation that was completed at
Attorney Geller's request, and multiple letters of support for Petitioner. In this sentencing
memo, Attorney Geller made a passionate argument for the possibility of parole based on all

of the applicable mitigating factors. Petitioner’s Sentencing Memo at 6-8. Counsel then made

a similarly passionate argument during the sentencing hearing highlighting (1) Petitioner’s
lack of criminal history; (2) childhood trauma that led to self-medicating with drugs; (3) the
support Petitioner had from his family; (4) Parole and Probation’s recommended sentence of
fifteen (15) years to life; (5) Petitioner’s consistent claim that he was not one of the people
who handled the weapon or touched the victim; (6) DNA results showing that Petitioner’s
DNA was not on the weapon: (7) Petitioner’s offer to take a polygraph test; and (8) surveillance

camera footage that Petitioner left the convenience store. Sentencing Proceedings at 6-10.
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1
That the Court was not moved by counsel’s argument does not render counsel deficient.
Indeed, the record is clear that the district court acknowledged that while a defendant’s lack of
criminal history and obvious substance abuse problems tend to incline the court to be merciful

at sentence, neither factor negated the “horrific crimes” committed:

1 want to be merciful, but at the same time, I know that justice has to
be done. And we have a victim who, but for the fact that he lived against
what you all thought -- my understanding is not only was he tortured and
mutilated in this room for a period of time, for a period of hours, but that
everybody thought he was dead, tried to burn the house down around him.
And if you had been successful in this, this would have been a capital
murder case and you all would be looking at potentially a capital sentence.

1 have a hard time with the pictures that I've seen and the horrible
injuries that were inflicted upon this poor victim. [ understand that he is not
the pillar of our community either, but that doesn't justify the things that
were done to him over $50. And that almost makes it worse because that
was the basis for this, is him not being able to come up with $50.

[...]

I understand that that is a difficult sentence for you to have to deal
with. It's a difficult sentence for me to have to give, but I don’t see any
redeeming qualities. I would like to be merciful, but I don’t think that this
is a crime that -- [ don’t think the community wants you back out on the
streets.’

Id. at 23-24,

' Notably, Petitioner was sentenced with his three (3) co-defendants, all of whom entered
into the same plea negotiations, and all of whom received the same sentence of life without
the possibility of parole. Of the other co- defendants, only co-defendant Edward Honabach
filed a Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus (“Honabach’s Petition™). See Horabach v.
William Gittere, A-20-812948-W, Petition Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus filed

March 27, 2020). In that Honabach’s Petition, Honabach made a similar claim to those
contained in this instant Petition, in that he claimed his plea was involuntarily entered and his
counsel was inéffective because he was not advised that he could receive life without the
possibility of parole. Id. The Court summarily denied Honabach’s Petition, finding that the
Guilty Plea Agreement and the record of plea canvass proceedings demonstrate that

Honabach’s “guilty plea was made freely and voluntarily, and that he understood the nature of
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the offense and the consequences of his plea.” Horabach v. William Gittere, A-20-812948-W,
Findings of Fact, Conclusion of Law and Order, at 2-3 (filed July 23, 2020). Because Petitioner

raises factually similar claims, signed the same Guilty Plea Agreement, and was canvassed
during the same proceeding as Honabach, the Court’s reasoning and denial of Honabach’s
petition suggests that Petitioner’s instant petition should be summarily denied.

A. Petitioner’s sentence does not constitute cruel and unusual punishment.

Petitioner’s claim that his sentence amounts to cruel and unusual punishment fails.
Petitioner bases this claim on the fact that he did not have prior convictions, that he briefly left
the scene during the commission of the crime, that his DNA was not found on the weapon, and
his history of mental illness. Petition, at 9-10. Petitioner does not contest the legality of the
imposed sentence, but rather its excessiveness. Id. at 9

As an ini;tial matter, this is not a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, nor is it a
challenge to the validity of Petitioner’s guilty plea. Accordingly, it should have been raised on
direct appeal, is beyond the scope of habeas proceedings and therefore waived. Franklin, 110
Nev. at 752, 877 P.2d at 1059. Indeed, this claim was raised and rejected by the Nevada Court

of Appeals:
Third, Castro claims his sentence constitutes cruel and unusual punishment
for the following reasons. He did not have a history of violent offenses and
was under the influence of drugs when he committed the crime. He was not
aware that the crime would become so violent and left when it became
violent. His DNA was not found on the weapon. He did not call the police
because he was afraid that his codefendants would harm his family. He has
PTSD symptoms; bipolar symptoms; and suffers from depression, anxiety,
and drug addiction. And he once attempted suicide.
[...]
Here, Castro's life-without-the-possibility-of-parole sentence falls within
the parameters of the relevant statute. See NRS 200.320(1)(a). He does not
allege that the statute is unconstitutional. And we conclude the sentence
imposed is not grossly disproportionate to his crime and does not constitute
cruel and unusual punishment.

Order of Affirmance, State v. Castro, Docket No: 78643-COA, at 3-4 (filed August 12, 2020).

Accordingly, this claim is barred by the doctrine of law of the case. “The law of a first

appeal is law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the
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same.” Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 315, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975) (quoting Walker v. State, 85
Nev. 337, 343. 455 P.2d 34, 38 (1969)). “The doctrine of the law of the case cannot be avoided

by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon
the previous proceedings.” Id. at 316, 535 P.2d at 799. Under the law of the case doctrine,
issues previously decided on direct appeal may not be reargued in a habeas petition. Pellegrini
v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 879, 34 P.3d 519, 532 (2001) (citing McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396,
414-15, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275 (1999)). Furthermore, this Court cannot overrule the Nevada
Supreme Court. NEV. CONST. Art. VI § 6. See Mason v. State, 206 S.W.3d 869, 875 (Ark.

2005) (recognizing the doctrine’s applicability in the criminal context); see also York v. State

342 S.W. 528, 553 (Tex. Crim. Appl. 2011). Accordingly, by simply continuing to file

petitions with the same arguments, Petitioner’s claim id barred by the doctrine of the law of
the case. Id.; Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 316, 535 P.2d 797, 799 (1975).

To the extent that the Court considers Petitioner’s claim, it still fails. Petitioner
acknowledges that his sentence is legal but believes that his sentence is disproportionate and
shocks the conscience because he did not have any prior criminal history, there was no
evidence of his DNA at the crime scene, and Petitioner suffers from various mental conditions.
Id. at [0-11. Petitioner’s claim fails. The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution
as well as Article 1, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution prohibit the imposition of cruel and
unusual punishment. The Nevada Supreme Court has stated that “[a] sentence within the
statutory limits is not ‘cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is
unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock
the conscience.”” Allred v. State, 120 Nev. 410, 92 P.2d 1246, 1253 (2004) (quoting Blume v.
State, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d 282, 284 (1996) (quoting Culverson v. State, 95 Nev. 95
Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221-22 (1979)). As long as the sentence is within the limits set

by the legislature, a sentence will normally not be considered cruel and unusual. Glegola v.
State, 110 Nev. 344, 871 P.2d 950 (1994).
Additionally, the Nevada Supreme Court has granted district courts “wide discretion”

in sentencing decisions. which will not be disturbed “[s]o long as the record does not
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demonstrate prejudice resulting from consideration of information or accusations founded on
facts supported 'only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence.” Allred, 120 Nev. at 410, 92
P.2d at 1253 (quoting Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 94, 545 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1976)). A district
court's sentencing determination will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.
Randell v. State, 109 Nev. 5, 846 P.2d 278 (1993) (citing Deveroux v. State, 96 Nev. 388, 610

P.2d 722 (1980)).
[n addressing cruel and unusual punishment, the United States Supreme Court in Solem

v. Helm, laid out three (3) factors to consider when determining if a defendant’s sentence is
grossly disproportionate to the crime: 1) the gravity of the offense and harshness of the penalty;
2) sentences of other defendants for the same crime in the same jurisdiction; and 3) sentences
for the same crime in other jurisdictions. 463 U.S. 277, 290-91, 103 S.Ct. 3001, 3010 (1983).

The Nevada Supreme Court has never invalidated a sentence based on Solem. In Houk

v. State, the defendant received a total of five (5) consecutive ten (10) year sentences, for a
conviction of three (3) counts of “issuance of no account check™ and two (2) counts of “uttering
forged instrument.” 103 Nev. 659, 747 P.2d 1376 (1987). Recognizing the substantial

deference owed the legislature and sentencing courts, the Houk Court concluded that the

defendant’s sentence was proportionate to their crimes. Id. at 664, 747 P.2d at 1379.
Specifically, the Court rejected the defendant’s claim that their sentence was cruel and unusual

under the Solem factors, and instead reinforced the Nevada standard that “a sentence of

imprisonment that is within the statutory limits is not considered cruel and unusual
punishment.” Id. at 664, 747 P.2d at 1378 (citing Schmidt v. State, 94 Nev. 665, 584 P.2d 695
(1978)).

The Nevada Supreme Court has consistently echoed its standard of review for claims

of excessive criminal sentences: “[r]egardless of its severity, a sentence that is ‘within the
statutory limits is not ‘cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is
unconstitutional‘ or the sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock
the conscience.’”™ Harte v. State, 132 Nev. 410, 373 P.3d 98 (2016)(internal quotations

omitted). The Harte Court also expressly held that it will “not review nondeath sentences for

excessiveness.” Id
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Here. Petitioner’s sentence does not amount to cruel and unusual punishment. In
pleading guilty, Petitioner acknowledged that the State would have the right to argue for a
sentence of life without the possibility of parole. While Petitioner may view that sentence as a
harsh penalty, Petitioner was involved in the kidnapping, torturing, and mutilation of the
victim and an attempt to burn down the location of the crime after the defendants believed the

victim had died. Sentencing Proceedings at 23. In fact, the sentencing judge stated, “if you had

been successful in this, this would have been a capital murder case and you all would be

looking at potentially a capital sentence. Id. Therefore, the harshness of the penalty imposed
is not disproporttonate to the crime.

Additionally, despite what Petitioner believes amount to mitigating factors, all of these
facts were provided to the Court in both the Sentencing Memorandum and the sentencing
argument. The Court considered all of these factors and, nonetheless, sentenced Petitioner and
all other defendants to life without the possibility of parole based on the horrific facts of the

crimes. Sentencing Proceedings at 6-10 & 23-24. Accordingly, Petitioner’s claim fails.

III. PETITIONER IS NOT ENTITLED TO APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL
Under the U.S. Constitution, the Sixth Amendment provides no right to counsel in post-
conviction proceedings. Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 752, 111 S. Ct. 2546, 2566
(1991). In McKague v. Warden, 112 Nev. 159, 163, 912 P.2d 255, 258 (1996), the Nevada

Supreme Court similarly observed that “{t]he Nevada Constitution...does not guarantee a right
to counsel in post-conviction proceedings, as we interpret the Nevada Constitution’s right to
counsel provision as being coextensive with the Sixth Amendment to the United States

Constitution.” McKague specifically held that, with the exception of NRS 34.820(1)(a)

(entitling appointed counsel when petitioner is under a sentence of death), one does not have
“any constitutional or statutory right to counsel at all” in post-conviction proceedings. Id. at
164,912 P.2d at 258.

The Nevada Legislature has, however, given courts the discretion to appoint post-

“conviction counsel so long as “the court is satisfied that the allegation of indigency is true and

the petition is not dismissed summarily.” NRS 34.750. NRS 34.750 reads:

A petition may allege that the Defendant is unable to pay the costs of the
proceedings or employ counsel. If the court is satisfied that the allegation of -
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indigency is true and the petition is not dismissed summarily, the court may
appoint counsel at the time the court orders the filing of an answer and a
return. In making its determination, the court may consider whether:

(a) The issues are difficult;

(b) The Defendant is unable to comprehend the proceedings; or

(c) Counsel is necessary to proceed with discovery.

(emphasis added). Accordingly, under NRS 34.750, it is clear that the Court has discretion in
determining whether to appoint counsel.

More recently, the Nevada Supreme Court examined whether a district court
appropriately denied a defendant’s request for appointment of counsel based upon the factors
listed in NRS 34.750. Renteria-Novoa v. State, 133 Nev. 75, 391 P.3d 760 (2017). In Renteria-
Novoa, the petitioner had been serving a prison term of eighty-five (85) years to life. Id. at 75,
391 P.3d at 760. After his judgment of conviction was affirmed on direct appeal, the defendant
filed a pro se post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus and requested counsel be
appointed. Id. The district court ultimately denied the petitioner’s petition and his appointment
of counsel request. 1d. In reviewing the district court’s decision, the Nevada Supreme Court
examined the statutory factors listed under NRS 34.750 and concluded that the district court’s
decision should be reversed and remanded. Id. The Court explained that the petitioner was
indigent, his petition could not be summarily dismissed, and he had in fact satisfied the
statutory factors. Id. at 76, 391 P.3d 760-61. As for the first factor, the Court concluded that
because petitioner had represented he had issues with understanding the English language
which was corroborated by his use of an interpreter at his trial, that was enough to indicate that
the petitioner could not comprehend the proceedings. Id. Moreover, the petitioner had
demonstrated that the consequences he faced—a minimum eighty-five (85) year sentence—
were severe and his petition may have been the only vehicle for which he could raise his
claims. Id. at 76-77, 391 P.3d at 761-62. Finally, his ineffective assistance of counsel claims
may have required additional discovery and investigation beyond the record. 1d.

Pursuant to NRS 34.750, Petitioner has not demonstrated that counsel should be
appointed. As a preliminary matter, Petitioner’s request should be summarily denied because

all of his claims are belied and repelled by the record. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502,

686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). Notwithstanding summary dismissal of the Petition, Petitioner’s
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request for counsel should still be denied as he has failed to meet any of the additional statutory
factors under NRS 34.750.

Petitioner has failed to include any factual allegations in the initial Petition that
demonstrate counsel should be appointed. Although the consequences Petitioner faces are
severe as e is serving life without the possibility of parole, that fact alone does not require the
appointment of counsel. The issues are not difficult because Petitioner’s claims are meritless
and belied by the record as discussed supra. Despite the claims’ futility, Petitioner does not
and cannot demonstrate that he had any trouble raising the issues.

Additionally, there has been no indication that Petitioner is unable to comprehend the

proceedings. Unlike the petitioner in Renteria-Novoa who faced difficulties understanding the

English language, here Petitioner has failed to demonstrate any inability to understand these
proceedings. There is also no indication from the record that Petitioner cannot comprehend the
instant proceedings as he managed to file a Motion to Withdraw Counsel, this instant Petition,
and two supplemental pleadings without the assistance of counsel.

Finally, counsel is not necessary to proceed with further discovery in this case.
Petitioner himself indicates that he has provided the Court with the information needed to grant
him relief. Due to habeas relief not being warranted, there is no need for additional discovery,
let alone counsel’s assistance to conduct such investigation. Therefore, Petitioner’s request
should be denied.
1V.  PETITIONER IS NOT ENTITLED TO AN EVDIENTIARY HEARING

NRS 34.770 determines when a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. It reads:

1. The judge or justice, upon review of the return, answer and all
supporting documents which are filed, shall determine whether
an evidentiary hearing is required. A petitioner must not be
discharged or committed to the custody of a person other than the
l'espon(fent unless an evidentiary hearing is held.

2. If the judge or justice determines that the petitioner is not
entitled to relief and an evidentiary hearing is not required, he
shall dismiss the petition without a hearing.

3. If the judge or justice determines that an evidentiary hearing
is required, he shall grant the writ and shall set a date for the
hearing.

I
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The Nevada Supreme Court has held that if a petition can be resolved without
expanding the record, then no evidentiary hearing is necessary. Marshall v. State, 110 Nev.

1328, 885 P.2d 603 (1994); Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 356, 46 P.3d 1228, 1231 (2002). A

defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing if his petition is supported by specific factual
allegations, which, if true, would entitle him to relief unless the factual allegations are repelled
by the record. Marshall, 110 Nev. at 1331, 885 P.2d at 605; see also Hargrove v. State, 100
Nev. 498, 503, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984) (holding that “[a] defendant seeking post-conviction

relief is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on factual allegations belied or repelled by the
record™). “A claim is ‘belied” when it is contradicted or proven to be false by the record as it
existed at the time the claim was made.” Mann, 118 Nev. at 354, 46 P.3d at 1230 (2002).

[t is improper to hold an evidentiary hearing simply to make a complete record. See

State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 121 Nev. 225, 234, 112 P.3d 1070, 1076 (2005) (“The

district court considered itself the ‘equivalent of . . . the trial judge’ and consequently wanted
‘to make as complete a record as possible.” This is an incorrect basis for an evidentiary
hearing.”). Further, the United States Supreme Court has held that an evidentiary hearing is
not required simply because counsel’s actions are challenged as being unreasonable strategic

decisions. Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770, 788 (2011). Although courts may not indulge

post hoc rationalization for counsel’s decision making that contradicts the available evidence
of counsel’s actions, neither may they insist counsel confirin every aspect of the strategic basis
for his or her actions. [d. There is a “strong presumption™ that counsel’s attention to certain
issues to the exclusion of others reflects trial tactics rather than “sheer neglect.” Id. (citing

Yarborough v: Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 124 S. Ct. 1 (2003)). Strickland calls for an inquiry in the

objective reasonableness of counsel’s performance, not counsel’s subjective state of mind. 466
U.S. 668, 688, 104'S. Ct. 2052, 2065 (1994).

Here. Petitioner is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing. All of the Petitioner’s factual
assertions are belied by the record in this case. Every claim is nothing but a bare and naked
assertion that is repelled by the record. As all of Petitioner’s claims fail, he has likewise failed

to demonstrate that the record needs to be expanded through an evidentiary hearing. Therefore,
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the Petition can:be resolved on the pleadings and an evidentiary hearing is not required, nor is
Petitioner entitled to one.
- CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests this Court DENY Petitioner’s

Defendant’s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction - NRS 34.740) and to
Withdraw Guilty Plea (Pursuant to NRS 176.165), and Supplemental Brief in Support of
Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.
DATED this_ (5D day of July, 2021,
Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
NevadaBar #1563

BY

JOHN NAMAN
Deput\District Attorney
Nevada Bar #14408
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Electronically,
09/21/2021 6<

S
DISTRICT COURT CLERK OF THE
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
-000-

LUIS ANGEL CASTRO,
Petitioner, CASE NO.: A-21-835827-W
DEPT. NO.: XXX
Vs.
ORDER RE: PETITION FOR WRIT
OF HABEAS CORPUS AND RE:
PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR
APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL AND
FOR EVIDENTIARY HEARING

STATE OF NEVADA,

Defendant.

L N N S N S N L N S

INTRODUCTION

The above-referenced matter is scheduled for a hearing on September 23, 2021,

with regard to Petitioner Luis Castro’s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. Pursuant to
the Administrative Orders of this Court, and N.R.Cr.P. 8(2), this matter may be decided
with or without oral argument. This Court has determined that it would be appropriate
to decide this matter on the pleadings, and consequently, this Order issues.
FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On March 10, 2016, Luis Angel Castro (hereinafter "Petitioner") was charged by

way of Criminal Complaint as follows: Count 1- Conspiracy to Commit Murder
(Category B Felony); Count 2 - Attempted Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon
(Category B Felony) ; Count 3 - Mayhem (Category B Felony); Count 4 - Battery with
Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm (Category B Felony);
Count 5 - First Degree Kidnapping with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Catego1y B Felony);
Count 6 - Extortion with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Catego1y B Felony); Count 7 -
Robbe1y with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony); Count 8 - First Degree
Arson (Catego1y B Felony). He was one (1) of four (4) co-defendants.

On April 12, 2019, Petitioner was bound up to the District Court on all charges
following a preliminaiy hearing. After four (4) continued trial dates, Petitioner and his
co-defendants ultimately pled guilty on the first day of trial. Petitioner pled guilty to
one count of First-Degree Kidnapping Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm (Category
A Felony). Pursuant to the Guilty Plea Agreement ("'GPA"™), the offer was contingent

upon all four (4) Defendants accepting their respective negotiations and being
1

Statistically closed: USJR - CV - Summary Judgmé

Filed
17 PM

COURT

nt (USSUJ)
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sentenced. All Parties agreed that the State would have the right to argue for Life
without the possibility of Parole, and the Defense will argue for Life with the possibility
of Parole after fifteen (15) years. All Parties agreed that no one would seek a term of
years. (See GPA).

On March 22, 2019, the State filed a Sentencing Memorandum. On March 24,
2019, Petitioner filed a Sentencing Memorandum on Behalf of Defendant Luis Castro
("Petitioner's Sentencing Memo"). On March 26, 2019, Petitioner was sentenced to life
without the possibility of Parole in the Nevada Department of Corrections.

On November 24, 2020, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed Petitioner's
Judgment of Conviction. Remittitur issued on November I7, 2020.

Petitioner Luis A. Castro sent his pro per Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and
to Withdraw Guilty Plea and a separate Ex Parte Motion for Appointment of Counsel
and Request for Evidentiary Hearing on May 12, 2021. Thereafter, both were received
by the Clerk of Court and e-filed on June 7, 2021. On June 22, 2021, Petitioner sent a
Supplement to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, which was received by the Clerk of
Court and e-filed on July 6, 2021.

SUMMARY OF LEGAL AND FACTUAL ARGUMENTS
Petitioner seeks to withdraw his guilty plea entered on 2/4/19 on the basis he

was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel during the plea-bargain process,
and that his plea was not given voluntarily or intelligently. Petitioner states he was not
competent to enter the plea because of his seventh-grade education, and his psychiatric
and medical conditions at the time of his plea.

First, Petitioner asserts that at the time he entered his guilty plea, “he was
heavily medicated and not competent, nor able to fully appreciate, understand, and
waive his fundamental Constitutional rights.” He further states that “the Court
remained oblivious to the most vital aspect of the plea colloquy, which centered on his
perception and mental health state at the time the plea was induced.” (See Petition at
pg- 3 of 14). Moreover, an evidentiary hearing will clearly establish that the mental
health “crisis and a newly prescribed and substantially powerful daily antipsychotic

medication had adversely affected and impacted his competency during the plea.” Id.
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Petitioner argues that a review of the transcripts of the plea hearing will not
clearly establish he fully understood his rights. Only an evidentiary hearing will
definitely establish his psychotic condition at the time of his plea, which precluded his
ability to voluntarily and intelligently plea guilty. Petitioner cites to Wilkins v.
Bowersox, 145 F.3d 1006 (8th Cir. 1998), as support for his argument. Petitioner
argues that he is an unsophisticated person who was able to correctly answer simple
questions during the plea canvas at defense counsel’s direction, but that is not enough
to establish that he fully understood what rights he gave up or what duties his attorney
failed to perform.

Given his seventh-grade education, history of drug abuse, and inherited bipolar
disorder, Petitioner asserts that his attorney, Mr. Warren Geller, was able to easily
instruct and/or manipulate him to answer every question of the Court by simply
responding “yes” to every question. He suggests that on page 7 of the plea canvass,
there is evidence that he was poorly advised by counsel. Petitioner argues that Mr.
Geller did not discuss any of the immigration consequences of a guilty plea with
Petitioner, and consequently, the plea must be found involuntary.

Petitioner argues his guilty plea must be withdrawn because it was
fundamentally unfair and manifested injustice, because Mr. Geller “talk[ed] him into
accepting a ‘blind plea’ that did not benefit him at all.” Petitioner suggests that he was
on suicide crisis placement and then discharged with newly prescribed anti-psychotic
medication, shortly before the plea, and Mr. Geller should have alerted the Court that
these changes had a substantive cognitive impact on him. Further, Petitioner argues
that the State will not be prejudiced by his withdrawal of plea because the case is “not
so old” and the totality of the circumstance’s manifest injustice.

According to Petitioner, Mr. Geller intimidated and misinformed Petitioner’s
mother, in order to force Petitioner into accepting a plea, because otherwise she would
withdraw her support from him. Petitioner alleges that Mr. Geller assured his mother
that he would receive a sentence of 15 years to life with the possibility of parole.
Because he did not receive a benefit from the plea agreement, Petitioner’s Sixth

Amendment rights were violated.
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Petitioner takes issue with the District Court’s decision to sentence him to life
without the possibility of parole. While he understands the Court had wide discretion to
impose a sentence and that the sentence imposed on him was within the statutory limit,
Petitioner argues his sentence is not in the best interest of judicial proceedings.
Petitioner argues that it doesn’t make sense for him to take a plea for a sentence that
would have been the same had he gone to trial. Had this case gone to trial, the evidence
would have revealed that he played a minimal role in the crime, that he tried to stop his
co-defendants, the only reason he did not call the police was out of fear for his family,
and that there was no DNA evidence.

He argues that the ultimate sentence imposed shocks the conscious given his
lack of prior convictions for violent offenses, the fact he left the scene, and that he was
not aware the crime would become violent. Petitioner states that his sentence of life
without the possibility of parole “is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense and
[his] role in the offense as to shock the conscience and amounts to cruel and unusual
punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution
and Article I, Section VI of the Nevada Constitution.” (See Petition at pg. 11 of 14.)

In his “Supplemental Petition,” Petitioner focuses on Mr. Geller’s alleged
ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner argues that Mr. Geller was ineffective by
failing “to object and/or argue the Court’s unreasonable demand. The demand that the
acceptance of the plea was contingent upon all four (4) Defendants accepting their
respective negotiations.” (See Supplemental Petition at pg. 6 of 15).

Petitioner again states that the plea agreement resulted in the same, or a worse
outcome than if the case had gone to trial, because the State would not have been able
to prove its case. Had the case gone to trial, the “facts” would have been revealed,
including that the prosecution coached the victim into identifying Petitioner as one of
the people who harmed him. And trial could have shown Petitioner lacked the mental
capacity to orchestrate the ordeal.

According to Petitioner, Mr. Geller’s counsel constituted “as a “Trump Con’-
fraudulent legal representation,” because he told Petitioner’s parents that the sentence
would range between 15 to 25 years in prison if he accepted. Petitioner stated that his
parents then threatened him with loss of support if he did not accept the offer, which
left him no alternative but to take the guilty plea. Mr. Geller was paid $85,000.00 to
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defend and/or negotiate a fair sentence on behalf of petitioner. Petitioner stated Mr.
Geller failed to sever Petitioner’s case from the co-defendants, and provided a “lack of
legal representation” which “was a disgrace and amounted to beguilement.” (See
Supplemental Petition at pg. 6 of 15).

Petitioner argues that it is “very unlikely [Mr. Geller] spen[t] more than ten
hours working on this case, averaging $8,500.00 an hour. For this hourly rate he could
have tried to be an effective attorney or at the very, very minimum, negotiated the plea-
sentence.” (See Supplemental Petition at pg. 8 of 15.)

In his Supplement, Petitioner again argues that the Court’s sentence was
disproportionate, and constituted cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the
Eighth Amendment.

Finally, Petitioner also argues that an evidentiary hearing is necessary so that his
parents can testify about Mr. Geller’s alleged promise to induce Petitioner to accept the
plea offer. The evidence is necessary in order for the Court to determine if Petitioner
was afforded constitutionally sufficient advice so that he could intelligently and
knowingly waive his important constitutional trial.

The Court notes that the Petitioner attached as an exhibit to his Supplement, a
letter allegedly from his parents supporting his arguments regarding Mr. Geller.

With regard to the Petitioner’s request for appointment of counsel, Petitioner
argues that the Court should consider that his Writ of Habeas Corpus has real merit.
Further, the Court should consider the factual complexity of this case, the ability of the
indigent to investigate the facts, the existence of conflicting testimony, the ability of the
indigent to present his claim(s) and the complexity of the legal issues.

In Return, the State first notes the procedural and factual background of this
matter and the underlying criminal case. Because Petitioner’s Supplemental Petition
and Memo in Support were filed after he filed this Petition and filed without leave of
Court, the State argues those pleading should be stricken and/or any new claims or
allegations contained therein should be summarily denied, pursuant to NRS 34.750 (5).
Upon filing a Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus, NRS 34.750(5) prohibits a
petitioner from filing any additional pleadings or supplements, except for those

specifically provided for in subsections (2)-(4), unless ordered by the Court.
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With regard to Petitioner’s argument that his guilty plea was involuntary
because he was mentally incompetent during the plea canvass and “did not have the
mental capacity or fully understand his rights and did not know what he was facing
when he pled guilty,” the State contends this claim is bellied by the record.

To determine whether a guilty plea was voluntarily entered, the Court will review the
totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea. Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271,
721 P.2d at 367. A proper plea canvass should reflect that:

[TThe defendant knowingly waived his privilege against self-incrimination, the

right to trial by jury, and the right to confront his accusers; (2) the plea was

voluntarily, was not coerced, and was not the result of a promise of leniency; (3)

the defendant understood the consequences of his plea and the range of

punishments; and (4) the defendant understood the nature of the charge, i.e.,

the elements of the crime.

Wilson v. State, 99 Nev, 362, 367, 664 P.2d 328, 331 (1983) (citing Higby v. Sheriff, 86
Nev. 774, 476 P.2d 950 (1970)).

As an initial matter, Petitioner attempts to draw similarities between this case
and Wilkins v. Bowersox, 145 P.3d 1006 (8th Cir. 1998), but the State argues that
Eighth Circuit case law is irrelevant and inapplicable here, particularly in light of the
fact that the totality of the circumstances establish that Petitioner's plea was
voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered. First, Petitioner signed his GPA and
affirmed that he was "signing this agreement voluntarily, after consultation with [his]
attorney, and [was] not acting under duress or 'coercion[.]" (GPA, at pg. 5.) Petitioner
further affirmed that he was not "under the influence of any intoxicating liquor-, a
controlled substance or other drug which would in any manner impair [his] ability to
comprehend or understand [the] agreement or the proceedings surrounding [the] entry
of [the] plea." (GPA, at pg. 5).

Next, despite Petitioner's claim to the contrary, his answers during his plea
colloquy were not perfunctory affirmations. Petitioner's answers during the plea
canvass further bely any claim that Petitioner was not competent to plead guilty or did
not understand what he was pleading guilty to. See Recorder's Transcript of Hearing-
Entry of Plea ("RT: EOP"), at 45-6 (February 4, 2019).

Additionally, Petitioner's allegation that his plea was invalid because he was on
suicide watch in the days preceding his guilty plea is nothing but a bare and naked

allegation that his unsupported by the record. According to the sentencing
6
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memorandum filed by counsel prior to sentencing, Petitioner received three
neuropsychological evaluations on February 21, March 5, and March 7, 2019, after he
entered his plea. (Petitioner's Sentencing Memo at pg. 11). However, the only suicide
attempt mentioned in those evaluations is an incident from years prior to Petitioner's
incarceration. Id. at 15. Therefore, the claim that Petitioner was on suicide watch is
unfounded and belied by the reports provided by the defense in preparation for
sentencing. Accordingly, Petitioner's claim that he was not competent to plead guilty
fails.

In response to Petitioner’s argument that the guilty plea was entered into with
effective assistance of counsel, the State argues that this also fails. Petitioner
acknowledges that his sentence is legal but believes that his sentence is disproportion
and shocks the conscience because he did not have any prior criminal history, there was
no evidence of his DNA at the crime scene, and Petitioner suffers from various mental
conditions, and this also fails. The State argues that Petitioner's signature on his GPA
and answers during his plea canvass belie any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.
Petitioner claims that his counsel did not discuss the consequences of the plea on
Petitioner's immigration status, but this is completely unfounded and belied by the
record. By signing the GPA, Petitioner affirmed that he did understand the
immigration consequences. (See GPA, at pgs. 3-4). Moreover, during the plea canvass,
Petitioner and his attorney discussed the immigration consequence. (See RT: EOP, at
7-8). Additionally, this claim is belied by the record at sentencing. In the Sentencing
Memo, counsel stated, “the parole board may deem it appropriate to release him to
Immigration and Customs Enforcement for removal from the United States.” (See
Petitioner's Sentencing Memo at 7-8). During sentencing, Petitioner’s counsel
referenced the possibility of Petitioner's deportation to Mexico multiple times and even
used that fact to argue in favor of possible parole. Recorder's Transcript of Proceedings
Sentencing ("Sentencing Proceedings"), at 7,10 (March 26, 2019). Specifically, counsel
stated, "There is an ICE hold. If...the Court...granted the defense's request for parole
eligibility at 15 years...the parole board would have the option to say, you know what
federal government, now you can take Mr. Castro and deport him to Mexico...if the
Court sentences him to life without, no matter what the circumstances are, we're always

going to be paying for his incarceration.” Id. at 7-8. Additionally, Petitioner addressed
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the court and made no mention that he was never informed of or advised about
potential immigration consequences. (Id. at 10- 11). Therefore, Petitioner's claim that
he was not aware of the consequences of immigration fails as it is belied by the record.

With regard to Petitioner’s argument that counsel intimidated and lied to
Petitioner’s parents, in order to induce Petitioner into pleading guilty, this is a bare and
naked allegation suitable only for summary denial. In signing the GPA, Petitioner
confirmed that counsel "answered all of [Petitioner's] questions regarding [the] guilty
plea agreement and its consequences to [Petitioner's] satisfaction and [Petitioner was]
satisfied by the services provided by [his] attorney.” Additionally, when Petitioner
signed the GPA, he acknowledged that he understood that he was waiving his right to a
jury trial. (GPA at 4). Moreover, during the plea canvass, Petitioner confirmed that he
was waiving his right to challenge the evidence at trial. (RT: EOP, at 5-6). Further,
Petitioner has failed to articulate what other investigation or challenge to the evidence
counsel should have engaged in, prior to Petitioner's guilty plea that would have
resulted in Petitioner asserting his right to a jury trial in lieu of a guilty plea. This
failure is fatal. Hill. 474 U.S. at 59, 106 S.Ct. at 370 (1985). Accordingly, counsel cannot
be deemed ineffective. Specifically, Petitioner further confirmed that he was satisfied
with counsel during his plea canvass and affirmed that he had not been threatened into
pleading guilty RT: EOP, at 4-7.

Petitioner’s claim that counsel promised him a sentence of fifteen (15) years to
life, or any other sentence, is a bare and naked claim that is entirely belied by the
record. Petitioner's signed GPA first states that pursuant to the negotiations, while
counsel could argue for a sentence of fifteen (15) years to life, Petitioner understood he
was not guaranteed that sentence. GPA at 3. Petitioner's answers during the plea
canvass further confirms that Petitioner understood the terms of the negotiations and
belie any claim that he believed he would receive a particular sentence RT: EOP, at 6.
While counsel indeed argued during sentencing that Petitioner should receive a
sentence of fifteen (15) years to life (Sentencing Proceedings, at 10,) that the Court did
not honor that request does not render counsel deficient.

Petitioner's claim that his sentence of life without the possibility of parole
suggests that counsel was ineffective during the plea negotiations fails. Counsel filed a

sixty-eight (68) page sentencing memo, which included a detailed history of
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Petitioner's upbringing, a neuropsychological evaluation that was completed at
Attorney Geller's request, and multiple letters of support for Petitioner. In this
sentencing memo, Attorney Geller made a passionate argument for the possibility of
parole based on all of the applicable mitigating factors. Petitioner's Sentencing Memo
at 6-8.

Counsel then made a similarly passionate argument during the sentencing
hearing highlighting (1) Petitioner's lack of criminal history; (2) childhood trauma that
led to self-medicating with drugs; (3) the support Petitioner had from his family; (4)
Parole and Probation's recommended sentence of fifteen (15) years to life: (5)
Petitioner's consistent claim that he was not one of the people who handled the weapon
or touched the victim; (6) DNA results showing that Petitioner's DNA was not on the
weapon: (7) Petitioner's offer to take a polygraph test; and (8) surveillance camera
footage that Petitioner left the convenience store. Sentencing Proceedings at 6-10.
Indeed, the record is clear that the district court acknowledged that while a defendant's
lack of criminal history and obvious substance abuse problems tend to incline the court
to be merciful at sentence, neither factor negated the "horrific crimes” committed. Id.
at 23-24.

Further, the State also notes that Petitioner was sentenced with his three co-
defendants, all of whom entered into the same plea negotiations, and all of whom
received the same sentence of life without the possibility of parole. Of the other co-
defendants, only co-defendant Edward Honabach filed a Post-Conviction Writ of
Habeas Corpus ("Honabach's Petition"). See Horabach v. William Gittere, A-20-
812948-W, Petition Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus filed March 27, 2020). In
Honabach's Petition, Honabach made similar claims to those contained in this instant
Petition, in that he claimed his plea was involuntarily entered and his counsel was
ineffective because he was not advised that he could receive life without the possibility
of parole. Id. The Court summarily denied Honabach's Petition, finding that the Guilty
Plea Agreement and the record of plea canvass proceedings demonstrate that
Honabach's "guilty plea was made freely and voluntarily, and that he understood the
nature of the offense and the consequences of his plea.” Honabach v. William Gittere,
A-20-812948-W, Findings of Fact, Conclusion of Law and Order, at 2-3 (filed July 23,

2020). Because Petitioner raises factually similar claims, signed the same Guilty Plea
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Agreement, and was canvassed during the same proceeding as Honabach, the Court's
reasoning and denial of Honabach's petition suggests that Petitioner's instant petition
should be summarily denied.

With regard to Petitioner’s claim that his sentence is cruel and unusual, this is
not a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, nor is it a challenge to the validity of
Petitioner's guilty plea. Accordingly, it should have been raised on direct appeal, and is
beyond the scope of habeas proceedings and therefore waived. Franklin, 110 Nev. at
752, 877 P.2d at 1059. Further, Petitioner already raised this claim which was rejected
by the Nevada Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals already ruled that although Castro claimed his sentence
constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, the sentence falls within the parameters of
the relevant statute. See NRS 200.320(1)(a). He did not allege that the statute is
unconstitutional, and the Court concluded that the sentence imposed was not grossly
disproportionate to his crime and did not constitute cruel and unusual punishment.
Order of Affirmance, State v. Castro, Docket No: 78643-COA, at 3-4 (filed August 12,
2020).

Based on this ruling by the Court of Appeals, the State argues that this claim is
barred by the doctrine of law of the case. "The law of a first appeal is law of the case on
all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." Hall v. State, 91
Nev. 314, 315, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975) (quoting Walker v. State, 85 Nev. 337, 343. 455
P.2d 34, 38 (1969)). "The doctrine of the law of the case cannot be avoided by a more
detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the
previous proceedings.” Id. at 316, 535 P.2d at 799. Under the law of the case doctrine,
issues previously decided on direct appeal may not be reargued in a habeas petition.
Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 879, 34P.3d519, 532 (2001) (citing McNelton v. State,
115 Nev. 396, 414-15, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275 (1999)). Furthermore, this Court cannot
overrule the Nevada Supreme Court. NEV. CONST. Art. VI§ 6. Accordingly, by simply
continuing to file petitions with the same arguments, Petitioner's claim is barred by the
doctrine of the law of the case. Id.; Hall v. State, 91Nev.314, 316, 535 P.2d 797, 799
(1975).

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution as well as Article I,

Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution prohibit the imposition of cruel and unusual
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punishment. The Nevada Supreme Court has stated that "[a] sentence within the
statutory limits is not ‘cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing
punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably dispropoziiionate to
the offense as to shock the conscience.”’ Allred v. State, 120 Nev. 410, 92 P.2d 1246,
1253 (2004) (quoting Blume v. State, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d 282, 284 (1996)
(quoting Culverson v. State, 95 Nev. 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221-22 (1979)).
As long as the sentence is within the limits set by the legislature, a sentence will
normally not be considered cruel and unusual. Glegola v. State, 110 Nev. 344, 871 P.2d
950 (1994).

The Nevada Supreme Court has consistently echoed its standard of review for
claims of excessive criminal sentences: "[r]egardless of its severity, a sentence that is
'within the statutory limits is not 'cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute
fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably
disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience.”' Harte v. State, 132 Nev.
410, 373 P.3d 98 (2016) (internal quotations omitted). The Harte Court also expressly
held that it will "not review nondeath sentences for excessiveness.” Id. In this case,
Petitioner acknowledged as part of his guilty plea that the State would have the right to
argue for a sentence of life without the possibility of parole. While Petitioner views that
sentence as harsh, he was involved in the kidnapping, torturing, and mutilation of the
victim and an attempt to burn down the location of the crime after the defendants
believed the victim had died. In fact, the sentencing judge stated, "if you had been
successful in this, this would have been a capital murder case and you all would be
looking at potentially a capital sentence.” Therefore, the harshness of the penalty
imposed is not disproportionate to the crime. Further, in sentencing, the Court did
consider all of the mitigating factors Petitioner raises again here.

As for Petitioner’s request for appointment of counsel, the State argues that
Petitioner has not demonstrated that counsel should be appointed pursuant to NRS
34.750. Additionally, Petitioner's request should be summarily denied because all of his
claims are belied and repelled by the record. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686
P.2d 222. 225 (1984). Petitioner has failed to include any factual allegations in the
initial Petition that demonstrate counsel should be appointed. Although the

consequences Petitioner faces are severe as he is serving life without the possibility of
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parole, that fact alone does not require the appointment of counsel. The issues are not

difficult because Petitioner's claims are meritless and belied by the record as discussed
supra. Despite the claims' futility, Petitioner does not and cannot demonstrate that he

had any trouble raising the issue

Additionally, there has been no indication that Petitioner is unable to
comprehend the proceedings here. He managed to file a Motion to Withdraw Counsel,
this instant Petition, and two supplemental pleadings without the assistance of counsel.
Finally, counsel is not necessary to proceed with further discovery in this case.
Petitioner himself indicates that he has provided the Court with the information
needed to grant him relief. Due to habeas relief not being warranted, there is no need
for additional discovery, let alone counsel's assistance to conduct such investigation

Lastly, the State argues that Petitioner is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing.
All of the Petitioner's factual assertions are belied by the record in this case. Every
claim is nothing but a bare and naked assertion that is repelled by the record. As all of
Petitioner's claims fail, he has likewise failed to demonstrate that the record needs to be
expanded through an evidentiary hearing. Therefore, the Petition can be resolved on
the pleadings and an evidentiary hearing is not required, nor is Petitioner entitled to
one.

In Reply, Petitioner argues that it is perplexing and doubtful that an appellate
counsel would address his own ineffectiveness while he/she prepare[s] [a] brief on
direct appeal, on behalf of his/her client. He states that he is entitled to appointment of
counsel under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Petitioner
summarizes the same arguments he made in his other briefing, and adds that the
appointment of counsel is “the only humanly fair solution.”

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

As the “plea canvass” is at issue here, the Court herein reviews the entire plea

canvass pertaining to this Petitioner, as follows:

THE COURT: Okay. I've got to do a plea canvas with each of you individually.
I'm just going to do them in the order that they're in the pleadings. So We'll do
Luis Angel Castro first. The rest of you can sit down if you want.

Mr. Castro, give me your full legal [name].

THE DEFENDANT: Luis Angel Castro Morales.

THE COURT: How old are you, sir?

THE DEFENDANT: 32.

THE COURT: How far did you go in school.
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THE DEFENDANT: Tenth grade.

THE COURT: Do you read, write, and understand the English language?

THE DEFENDANT: The best I can.

THE COURT: What does that mean?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE COURT: Have you seen a copy of the amended information in this case
charging you with first degree kidnapping resulting in substantial bodily harm,
which is a category A. Have you seen that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Did you have a chance to read that and discuss it with your
attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have.

THE COURT: With regard to that charge, first degree kidnapping resulting in
substantial bodily harm, how do you plead, guilty or not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: Before I can accept your plea of guilty, I have to be convinced that
your plea is freely and voluntarily made. Are you making your plea freely and
voluntarily?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I am, sir.

THE COURT: Has anybody forced you or coerced you to enter that plea?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Are you making that plea because you're, in fact, guilty of that
charge?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Has anybody made any promises or guarantees to you other than
what's been stated in open court and what's contained in the guilty plea
agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: In looking at the guilty plea agreement, it looks like you signed
this on page 5. It's dated February 4. Did you read and sign that today?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Did you understand it before you signed it?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You had a chance to discuss it with your attorney, and he
answered any questions you might have had about it?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have.

THE COURT: You understand that by signing it, you're agreeing that you read
and understood it; correct?

THE DEFENDANT: That is correct.

THE COURT: Also by signing that document, you're agreeing to waive certain
important constitutional rights like the right to be able to confront your accuser,
go to trial and put on evidence on your own behalf. You understand that?
THE DEFENDANT: I understand, sir.

THE COURT: Are you currently suffering from any emotional or physical
distress that's caused you to enter this plea?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.
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THE COURT: Are you currently under the influence on any alcohol, medication,
narcotics or any substance that might affect your ability to understand these
documents or the process that we're going through?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Do you understand that in the guilty plea agreement it says that
the possibility of sentence is 15 to 40 years or for minimum of 15 years and a
maximum of life or life without parole? Do you understand that those are the
options?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you understand that sentencing is strictly up to the Court, and
nobody can promise you probation, leniency, or any kind of special treatment;
correct?

THE DEFENDANT: That's correct.

THE COURT: Do you have any questions that you want to ask of myself or the
State or your counsel before we proceed?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir,

THE COURT: Has your attorney made any promises to you that are not
contained in the guilty plea agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Based on all the facts and circumstances, are you satisfied with the
services of your attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Are you a U.S. citizen?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Do you understand that there are some charges that have adverse
immigration consequences and may result in deportation?

THE DEFENDANT: That is correct.

THE COURT: Have you had the chance to discuss any immigration issues with
your attorney, and he's answered any questions you have?

THE DEFENDANT: To this point, yes and no, but I'll just say yes.

MR. GELLER: Judge, I can represent to the Court, I've been in touch with his
immigration attorney, and we've been in communication. I did let my client
know today, as well as previously, that there's a substantial probability he'll be
deported after he serves a period of incarceration.

THE COURT: Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You still agree with the terms as set forth in the guilty plea
agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: So I have to go through the amended information with you to
make sure that there's a factual basis for your plea. According to the
information, it says that,

"On or about the 7th day of March 2016 in Clark County, Nevada, contrary to the
laws of the State of Nevada, you did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously seize,
confine, inveigle, entice, decoy, abduct, conceal, kidnap, or carry away Jose Ortiz
Salazar, a human

being, with the intent to hold or detain Jose Ortiz Salazar against his will and
without his consent for the purpose of committing murder and/or robbery with
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substantial bodily harm. The defendants being criminally liable under one or
more of the following princip[les] of criminal liability, to wit: One, by directly
committing the crime or by; two, aiding or abetting in the commission of the
crime with the intent that the crime be committed by counseling, encouraging,
hiring, commanding, inducing or otherwise procuring the other to commit the
crime; and/or, three, pursuant to conspiracy to commit the crime with the intent
that the crime be committed, the defendants aiding or abetting or conspiring,
defendants acting in concert throughout.” Is that what you did?

THE DEFENDANT: According to this, yes.

THE COURT: The question is, is that what you did?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Because, I mean, if you don't think that's what you did, then
you can't be freely and voluntarily accepting the plea.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You agree that's what you did; correct?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE COURT: All right. The Court hereby finds the defendant's plea of guilty is
freely and voluntarily made. He appears to understand the nature of the offense
and the consequences of the plea. I'll therefore accept your plea of guilty. We'll
refer this to the Division of Parole and Probation for preparation of the PSI.
We'll set for sentencing hearing for --

THE CLERK: March 26th, 8:30.

Transcript of Plea Canvass, 2/4/19.

In determining whether a guilty plea was voluntarily entered, the Court reviews
the totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea. Bryant, 102 Nev. at
271, 721 P.2d at 367. A proper plea canvass should reflect that:

[T]The defendant knowingly waived his privilege against self-incrimination, the
right to trial by jury, and the right to confront his accusers; (2) the plea was
voluntarily, was not coerced, and was not the result of a promise of leniency; (3)
the defendant understood the consequences of his plea and the range of
punishments; and (4) the defendant understood the nature of the charge, i.e.,
the elements of the crime.
Wilson v. State, 99 Nev. 362, 367, 664 P.2d 328, 331 (1983) (citing Higby v. Sheriff, 86
Nev. 774, 476 P.2d 950 (1970)).
The requirements of a proper plea canvass were met in the canvass conducted by
the Court on February 4, 2019.
Pursuant to NRS 34.810, “The court shall dismiss a petition if the court
determines that: (a) the petitioner’s conviction was upon a plea of guilty . . . and the

petition is not based upon an allegation that the plea was involuntarily or unknowingly

15
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entered or that the plea was entered without effective assistance of counsel.” NRS
34.810(1)(a).

Although the Defendant pled guilty, he is alleging that his plea was involuntary
or unknowingly entered, and he further is arguing ineffective assistance of counsel.

In considering a challenge relating to “ineffective assistance of counsel,” the U.S.
Supreme Court has stated the following;:

Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too
tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or
adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense
after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of
counsel was unreasonable. Cf. Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107, 133—134, 102 S.Ct.
1558, 1574—1575, 71 L.Ed.2d 783 (1982). A fair assessment of attorney
performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting
effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged
conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time.
Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must
indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range
of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the
presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action “might be
considered sound trial strategy.” See Michel v. Louisiana, supra, 350 U.S., at
101, 76 S.Ct., at 164. There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in
any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a
particular client in the same way. See Goodpaster, The Trial for Life: Effective
Assistance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases, 58 N.Y.U.L.Rev. 299, 343 (1983).

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689-690, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2066 (1984).

The Court indicated that there is a two-prong test: The first prong is “whether,
in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide
range of professionally competent assistance,” recognizing that “counsel is strongly
presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in
the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Strickland at 690. The second
prong is that “The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, bur
for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been
different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence
in the outcome.” Strickland at 694.

Performance of counsel is judged against an objective standard for
reasonableness and is deficient when it falls below that standard. State v. Powell, 122
Nev. 751, 759, 138 P.3d 453, 458 (2006); Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 103 P.3d 25

(2004); Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102 (1996).
16
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The Nevada Supreme Court has stated the following relating to the “prejudice”
requirement:

In meeting the “prejudice” requirement, the defendant must show a reasonable
probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been
different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068. When a conviction is
the result of a guilty plea, [t]he second, or “prejudice,” requirement ... focuses on
whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome
of the plea process. In other words, in order to satisfy the “prejudice”
requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability
that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have
insisted on going to trial.

Hillv. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59, 106 S.Ct. 366, 370, 88 1..Ed.2d 203 (1985)
(emphasis added); see also State v. Langarica, 107 Nev. 932, 933, 822 P.2d
1110, 1111 (1991), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 924, 113 S.Ct. 346, 121 L.Ed.2d 261
(1992). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine
confidence in the outcome.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068.

Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 988, 923 P.2d 1102 (1996).

In a very recent case, the Nevada Supreme Court summarized the analysis which
the Court should undertake when considering an ineffective assistance claim. The
Court stated the following:

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, a petitioner must show “(1) that
counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that the deficient performance
prejudiced the defense.” Kirksey, 112 Nev. at 987, 923 P.2d at 1107 (internal
quotation marks omitted) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687,
104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). The first prong of this test asks whether
counsel's representation fell “below an objective standard of reasonableness” as
evaluated from counsel's perspective at the time. Id. at 987-88, 923 P.2d at 1107.
The second prong asks whether there is “a reasonable probability that, but for
counsel's errors, the result of the [proceeding] would have been different.” Id. at
988, 923 P.2d at 1107. We give deference to the district court's factual findings if
supported by substantial evidence and not clearly erroneous, but we review the
court's application of the law to those facts de novo. Lader v. Warden, 121 Nev.
682, 686, 120 P.3d 1164, 1166 (2005). Both components of the inquiry must be
shown. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

Gonzales v. State, 137 Nev.Adv.Op. 40 (7/29/21).

With regard to the Petitioner’s argument that the Court’s sentence constitutes
“cruel and unusual punishment,” the Court of Appeals has already addressed that
argument, and their decision is the Law of the Case. The Court of Appeals stated the
following:

... Castro claims his sentence constitutes cruel and unusual punishment for the
following reasons. He did not have a history of violent offenses and was under
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the influence of drugs when he committed the crime. He was not aware that the
crime would become so violent and left when it became violent. His DNA was
not found on the weapon. He did not call the police because he was afraid that
his codefendants would harm his family. He has PTSD symptoms; bipolar
symptoms; and suffers from depression, anxiety, and drug addiction. And he
once attempted suicide.

Regardless of its severity, a sentence that is within the statutory limits is
not “cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is
unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the
offense as to shock the conscience.” Blume v. State, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d
282, 284 (1996)(quoting Culverson v. State, 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220,
221-22 (1979)); see also Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1000-01
(1991)(plurality opinion)(explaining the Eighth Amendment does not require
strict proportionality between crime and sentence; it forbids only an extreme
sentence that is grossly disproportionate to the crime).

Here, Castro’s life-without-the-possibility-of-parole sentence falls within
the parameters of the relevant statute. See NRS 200.320(1)(a). He does not
allege that the statute is unconstitutional. And we conclude the sentence
imposed is not grossly disproportionate to his crime and does not constitute
cruel and unusual punishment.

(Castro v. Nevada, Court of Appeals, Order of Affirmance dated 12/12/20, Case 78643-
COA).

As indicated above, the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution as
well as Article I, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution prohibit the imposition of cruel
and unusual punishment. The Nevada Supreme Court has stated that "[a] sentence
within the statutory limits is not 'cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute
fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably
disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience.”' Allred v. State, 120 Nev.
410, 92 P.2d 1246, 1253 (2004) (quoting Blume v. State, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d
282, 284 (1996) (quoting Culverson v. State, 95 Nev. 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220,
221-22 (1979)). And, as long as the sentence is within the limits set by the legislature, a
sentence will normally not be considered cruel and unusual. Glegola v. State, 110 Nev,
344, 871 P.2d 950 (1994). Petitioner argues now that his sentence is disproportionate
and shocks the conscience. While he may not have used the “buzz words,” of “shocks
the conscience” in his appeal, the Court of Appeals previously held that the sentence
was “not grossly disproportionate to his crime and does not constitute cruel and
unusual punishment.” Castro v. Nevada, Court of Appeals, Order of Affirmance dated
12/12/20, Case 78643-COA. The Court of Appeals already analyzed the Eighth
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Amendment argument of “cruel and unusual punishment,” and found against the
Petitioner on that issue. That ruling is the law of the case. Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314,
315, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975) (quoting Walker v. State, 85 Nev. 337, 343. 455 P.2d 34,
38 (1969)).

Although the Petitioner is now unhappy with his sentence, the Guilty Plea
Agreement (GPA) that he entered into specifically indicated the following:

This offer is conditional upon all four (4) Defendants accepting their
respective negotiations and being sentenced. All Parties agree the State will
have the right to argue for Life without the possibility of Parole, and the Defense
will argue for Life with the possibility of Parole after fifteen (15) years. All
parties agree that no one will seek the term of years.

GPA filed 2/4/19, at pg. 1.

At the Sentencing Hearing, defense counsel argued for Life “with” the possibility
of parole, and the State argued for Life “without” the possibility of parole. The
arguments were exactly what the Defendant agreed the arguments would be. When the
Court sentenced each of the Defendants, the Court stated the following:

I want to be merciful, but at the same time, I know that justice has to be
done. And we have a victim who, but for the fact that he lived against what you
all thought -- my understanding is not only was he tortured and mutilated in this
room for a period of time, for a period of hours, but that everybody thought he
was dead, tried to burn the house down around him. And if you had been
successful in this, this would have been a capital murder case and you all would
be looking at potentially a capital sentence.

I have a hard time with the pictures that I've seen and the horrible
injuries that were inflicted upon this poor victim. I understand that he is not the
pillar of our community either, but that doesn't justify the things that were done
to him over $50. And that almost makes it worse because that was the basis for
this, is him not being able to come up with $50.

So....I'm going to go ahead and sentence each of you to life in the
Nevada Department of Corrections without the possibility of parole. I
understand that that is a difficult sentence for you to have to deal with. It's a
difficult sentence for me to have to give, but I don't see any redeeming qualities.
I would like to be merciful, but I don't think that this is a crime that -- T don't
think the community wants you back out on the streets. So that will be the
sentence. I don't think credit time served matters.

(Transcript of Sentencing Hearing 3/26/19, pgs. 23-24).
The Petitioner argues that his plea was not entered freely and voluntarily, but his
claim is belied by the record, as set forth above. He acknowledged, both in his GPA and
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orally before the Court, what the possibilities would be, and he acknowledged that
sentencing was strictly up to the Court. Further he acknowledged that he had discussed
immigration issues with his attorney, and that he still wanted to enter into the GPA,
and accept the terms thereof. Based on the GPA and the plea canvass, and the totality
of the circumstances in the case, the Court finds that the Defendant’s guilty plea was
made freely and voluntarily, and that he understood the nature of the offense and the
consequences of his plea.

The Petitioner’s argument that counsel promised the Petitioner and Petitioner’s
family that he would receive fifteen (15) years to life, is a bare and naked allegation that
is unsupported in the record, and is actually belied by the record. Both the GPA signed
by the Petitioner, as well as the oral plea canvass, specifically informed the Petitioner
that the State would be arguing for life without the possibility of parole, and that
sentencing was at the discretion of the Judge.! Petitioner argues, and submitted a letter
from his parents, suggesting that counsel made misrepresentations to Petitioner’s
parents, but his parents did not accept the plea — Defendant did. And there is no
evidence that Defendant’s plea was anything but knowing, willing, and voluntary.

Further, Petitioner’s argument that counsel was ineffective for failing to inform

him of the immigration consequences of his plea, is equally belied by the record. 2

! The GPA specifically states, “I have not been promised or guaranteed any particular sentence by anyone. Iknow that

my sentence is to be determined by the Court within the limits prescribed by statute. Iunderstand that if my attorney or the
State of Nevada or both recommend any specific punishment to the Court, the Coutt is not obligated to accept the
recommendation.” (See GPA at pg. 3). Additionally, in the oral plea canvass, the following interaction occurred:
THE COURT; Do you understand that in the guilty plea agreement it says that the possibility of sentence is 15 to 40
years or for minimum of 15 years and a maximum of life or life without parole? Do you understand that those are the
options?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
THE COURT: Do you understand that sentencing is strictly up to the Court, and nobody can promise you probation,
leniency, or any kind of special treatment; correct?
THE DEFENDANT: That's correct.
(See Plea Canvass of 2/4/19.)
z In the GPA, signed by the Defendant, he agreed to the following:
I understand that if T am not a United States citizen, any criminal conviction will likely result in serious
negative immigration consequences including but not limited to:
1. The removal from the United States through deportation; . . .

Regardless of what I have been told by any attorney, no one can promise me that this conviction will not
result in negative immigration consequences and/or impact my ability to become a United States citizen and/or a
legal resident.

(See GPA at pg. 3)
Additionally, during the oral plea canvass, the following took place:
THE COURT: Are you a U.S. citizen?
THE DEFENDANT:; No, sir.
20
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In reviewing the Petitioner’s arguments regarding ineffective assistance of
counsel, in totality, the Court finds and concludes that the Petitioner has failed to meet
the standard set forth in Strickland. The Court finds that there is insufficient evidence
to support the conclusion that counsel’s actions were objectively unreasonable.
Further, there is insufficient evidence suggesting that the result of the proceeding
would have been different if counsel had said or done things differently. Consequently,
there is no prejudice to the Defendant.

Inasmuch as the Petition requested a “withdrawal of plea,” such request is
improper for a Writ of Habeas Corpus, but insofar as the issues have been addressed
herein, the request is denied.

Petitioner argues that at the time he entered his guilty plea he was heavily
medicated, not competent, and not able to understand the Constitutional rights he was

waiving. Such allegations are bare and naked allegations, and are belied by the record.3

THE COURT: Do you understand that there are some charges that have adverse immigration consequences
and may result in deportation?
THE DEFENDANT: That is correct.
THE COURT: Have you had the chance to discuss any immigration issues with your attorney, and he's
answered any questions you have?
THE DEFENDANT: Te this point, yes and ne, but I'll just say yes.
MR. GELLER: Judge, I can represent to the Court, I've been in touch with his immigration attorney, and
we've been in communication. I did let my client know today, as well as previously, that there's a substantial
probability he'll be deported after he serves a period of incarceration.
THE COURT: Do you understand that?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
THE COURT: You still agree with the terms as set forth in the guilty plea agreement?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
(See transcript of plea canvass 2/4/19).
3 The Petitioner was asked about his “understanding,” and whether he was under the “influence” of anything at the time
of the plea canvass, and he stated as follows:
THE COURT: In looking at the guilty plea agreement, it looks like you signed this on page 5. It's dated
February 4. Did you read and sign that today?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
THE COURT: Did you understand it before you signed it?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
THE COURT: You had a chance to discuss it with your attomey, and he answered any questions you might
have had about it?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have.
THE COURT: You understand that by signing it, you're agreeing that you read and understood it; correct?
THE DEFENDANT: That is correct.
THE COURT: Alse by signing that document, you're agreeing to waive certain important constitutional
rights like the right to be able to confront your accuser, go to trial and put on evidence on your own behalf.
You understand that?
THE DEFENDANT: I understand, sir.
THE COURT: Are you cutrently suffering from any emotional or physical distress that's caused you to enter
this plea?
THE DEFENDANT: No, sit,
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Petitioner requests an Evidentiary Hearing, but the issues he believes require an
evidentiary hearing have already been addressed by the Court, and the Petitioner’s
arguments are belied by the record. Consequently, the Court does not believe that an
Evidentiary Hearing would be necessary, and instead it would be a waste of judicial
resources.

With regard to the Petitioner’s request for appointment of counsel, NRS 171.188
provides that an indigent defendant may request appointment of counsel, and pursuant
to NRS 178.397, an indigent defendant accused of a felony or gross misdemeanor is
entitled to counsel at every stage of the proceedings, from the initial appearance
through appeal, unless he waives such appointment. But pursuant to Coleman v.
Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 752, 111 8.Ct. 2546, 2566 (1991), there is no Sixth Amendment
right to post-conviction counsel. See also McKague v. Warden, 112 Nev. 159, 163, 912
P.2d 255, 258 (1996). NRS 34.750 provides the Court with discretion to appoint post-
conviction counsel, after considering whether 1) the issues presented are difficult; 2)
the petitioner is unable to comprehend the proceedings; or 3) counsel is needed to
proceed with discovery. In analyzing these factors, this Court finds and concludes that
while many issues have been raised in the Petition, they do not appear to be “complex”
issues. The Petition is comprehensive and somewhat organized, especially for a pro-se
Petitioner, and consequently, the Court cannot find that Petitioner would be “unable to
comprehend the proceedings,” or need assistance in filing any documents, as he

appears to be very capable of doing so on his own. Finally, there is not even a

THE COURT: Are you curtrently under the influence on any alcohel, medication, narcotics or any substance
that might affect your ability to understand these documents or the process that we're going through?
THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.
(See transcript of plea canvass 2/4/19).
22
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suggestion that cliscovery is necessary., Consequently, The Petitioner’s request for
appointment of connsel must be denied.
ORDFR/CONCLUSTION

Based upon the foregoing, and good canse appearing,

1T IS HERERY ORDERED That the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus is hereby
DENIED. Petitioner’s request for an Evidentiary Hearing is also DENIED, And finally,

Petitioner’s vequest for appointment of coungel is also DENIED.

The Court requests that The State process the Notice of Entry relative to this
Ordler.

Because this matter has been decicled on the pleacings, the hearing schedhnled
for o/23/21 will be taken off calendar, and consequently, there is no need for any

parties or attornevs to appear,

Dated this 2‘_] _gf‘t'c]a\,i of September, 2021

-

A\

4F9 B1F 0283 78ED
Jerry A. Wiese
District Court Judge
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CSERYV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
Luis Castro, Plaintiff(s) CASE NO: A-21-835827-W
VS, DEPT. NO. Department 30

State of Nevada, Defendant(s)

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Electronic service was attempted through the Eighth Judicial District Court's
electronic filing system, but there were no registered users on the case.

If indicated below, a copy of the above mentioned filings were also served by mail
via United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, to the parties listed below at their last
known addresses on 9/22/2021

Luis Castro #1214547
ESP
P.O. Box 1989
Ely, NV, 89301
Steven Wolfson Clark County District Attorney

200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor
Las Vegas, NV, 89155
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Electronically Filed
9/23/2021 1:16 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE CO
NEOJ &Tu—ﬁ j 'J L'""'""""

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
LLUIS CASTRQ,
Case No: A-21-835827-W
Petitioner,
Dept. No: XXX
VS.
STATE OF NEVADA,
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER
Respondent,

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on September 21, 2021, the court entered a decision or order in this matter,
a true and correct copy of which is attached to this notice.

You may appeal to the Supreme Court from the decision or order of this court. If you wish to appeal, you
must file a notice of appeal with the clerk of this court within thirty-three (33) days after the date this notice is mailed

to you. This notice was mailed on September 23, 2021.

STEVEN D. GRIERSON, CLERK OF THE COURT

/s/ Amanda Hampton
Amanda Hampton, Deputy Clerk

CERTIFICATE OF E-SERVICE / MAILING

[ hereby certify that on this 23 day of September 2021, [ served a copy of this Notice of Entry on the
following:

M By e-mail:
Clark County District Attorney’s Office
Anorney General’s Office — Appellate Division-

M The United States mail addressed as follows:
Luis Castro # 1214547
P.O. Box 1989
Ely, NV 89301

/s/ Amanda Hampton
Amanda Hampton, Deputy Clerk

Case Number: A-21-835827-W
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Electronically,
09/21/2021 6<

S
DISTRICT COURT CLERK OF THE
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
-000-

LUIS ANGEL CASTRO,
Petitioner, CASE NO.: A-21-835827-W
DEPT. NO.: XXX
Vs.
ORDER RE: PETITION FOR WRIT
OF HABEAS CORPUS AND RE:
PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR
APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL AND
FOR EVIDENTIARY HEARING

STATE OF NEVADA,

Defendant.

L N N S N S N L N S

INTRODUCTION

The above-referenced matter is scheduled for a hearing on September 23, 2021,

with regard to Petitioner Luis Castro’s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. Pursuant to
the Administrative Orders of this Court, and N.R.Cr.P. 8(2), this matter may be decided
with or without oral argument. This Court has determined that it would be appropriate
to decide this matter on the pleadings, and consequently, this Order issues.
FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On March 10, 2016, Luis Angel Castro (hereinafter "Petitioner") was charged by

way of Criminal Complaint as follows: Count 1- Conspiracy to Commit Murder
(Category B Felony); Count 2 - Attempted Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon
(Category B Felony) ; Count 3 - Mayhem (Category B Felony); Count 4 - Battery with
Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm (Category B Felony);
Count 5 - First Degree Kidnapping with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Catego1y B Felony);
Count 6 - Extortion with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Catego1y B Felony); Count 7 -
Robbe1y with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony); Count 8 - First Degree
Arson (Catego1y B Felony). He was one (1) of four (4) co-defendants.

On April 12, 2019, Petitioner was bound up to the District Court on all charges
following a preliminaiy hearing. After four (4) continued trial dates, Petitioner and his
co-defendants ultimately pled guilty on the first day of trial. Petitioner pled guilty to
one count of First-Degree Kidnapping Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm (Category
A Felony). Pursuant to the Guilty Plea Agreement ("'GPA"™), the offer was contingent

upon all four (4) Defendants accepting their respective negotiations and being
1

Statistically closed: USJR - CV - Summary Judgmé

Filed
17 PM

COURT
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sentenced. All Parties agreed that the State would have the right to argue for Life
without the possibility of Parole, and the Defense will argue for Life with the possibility
of Parole after fifteen (15) years. All Parties agreed that no one would seek a term of
years. (See GPA).

On March 22, 2019, the State filed a Sentencing Memorandum. On March 24,
2019, Petitioner filed a Sentencing Memorandum on Behalf of Defendant Luis Castro
("Petitioner's Sentencing Memo"). On March 26, 2019, Petitioner was sentenced to life
without the possibility of Parole in the Nevada Department of Corrections.

On November 24, 2020, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed Petitioner's
Judgment of Conviction. Remittitur issued on November I7, 2020.

Petitioner Luis A. Castro sent his pro per Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and
to Withdraw Guilty Plea and a separate Ex Parte Motion for Appointment of Counsel
and Request for Evidentiary Hearing on May 12, 2021. Thereafter, both were received
by the Clerk of Court and e-filed on June 7, 2021. On June 22, 2021, Petitioner sent a
Supplement to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, which was received by the Clerk of
Court and e-filed on July 6, 2021.

SUMMARY OF LEGAL AND FACTUAL ARGUMENTS
Petitioner seeks to withdraw his guilty plea entered on 2/4/19 on the basis he

was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel during the plea-bargain process,
and that his plea was not given voluntarily or intelligently. Petitioner states he was not
competent to enter the plea because of his seventh-grade education, and his psychiatric
and medical conditions at the time of his plea.

First, Petitioner asserts that at the time he entered his guilty plea, “he was
heavily medicated and not competent, nor able to fully appreciate, understand, and
waive his fundamental Constitutional rights.” He further states that “the Court
remained oblivious to the most vital aspect of the plea colloquy, which centered on his
perception and mental health state at the time the plea was induced.” (See Petition at
pg- 3 of 14). Moreover, an evidentiary hearing will clearly establish that the mental
health “crisis and a newly prescribed and substantially powerful daily antipsychotic

medication had adversely affected and impacted his competency during the plea.” Id.
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Petitioner argues that a review of the transcripts of the plea hearing will not
clearly establish he fully understood his rights. Only an evidentiary hearing will
definitely establish his psychotic condition at the time of his plea, which precluded his
ability to voluntarily and intelligently plea guilty. Petitioner cites to Wilkins v.
Bowersox, 145 F.3d 1006 (8th Cir. 1998), as support for his argument. Petitioner
argues that he is an unsophisticated person who was able to correctly answer simple
questions during the plea canvas at defense counsel’s direction, but that is not enough
to establish that he fully understood what rights he gave up or what duties his attorney
failed to perform.

Given his seventh-grade education, history of drug abuse, and inherited bipolar
disorder, Petitioner asserts that his attorney, Mr. Warren Geller, was able to easily
instruct and/or manipulate him to answer every question of the Court by simply
responding “yes” to every question. He suggests that on page 7 of the plea canvass,
there is evidence that he was poorly advised by counsel. Petitioner argues that Mr.
Geller did not discuss any of the immigration consequences of a guilty plea with
Petitioner, and consequently, the plea must be found involuntary.

Petitioner argues his guilty plea must be withdrawn because it was
fundamentally unfair and manifested injustice, because Mr. Geller “talk[ed] him into
accepting a ‘blind plea’ that did not benefit him at all.” Petitioner suggests that he was
on suicide crisis placement and then discharged with newly prescribed anti-psychotic
medication, shortly before the plea, and Mr. Geller should have alerted the Court that
these changes had a substantive cognitive impact on him. Further, Petitioner argues
that the State will not be prejudiced by his withdrawal of plea because the case is “not
so old” and the totality of the circumstance’s manifest injustice.

According to Petitioner, Mr. Geller intimidated and misinformed Petitioner’s
mother, in order to force Petitioner into accepting a plea, because otherwise she would
withdraw her support from him. Petitioner alleges that Mr. Geller assured his mother
that he would receive a sentence of 15 years to life with the possibility of parole.
Because he did not receive a benefit from the plea agreement, Petitioner’s Sixth

Amendment rights were violated.
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Petitioner takes issue with the District Court’s decision to sentence him to life
without the possibility of parole. While he understands the Court had wide discretion to
impose a sentence and that the sentence imposed on him was within the statutory limit,
Petitioner argues his sentence is not in the best interest of judicial proceedings.
Petitioner argues that it doesn’t make sense for him to take a plea for a sentence that
would have been the same had he gone to trial. Had this case gone to trial, the evidence
would have revealed that he played a minimal role in the crime, that he tried to stop his
co-defendants, the only reason he did not call the police was out of fear for his family,
and that there was no DNA evidence.

He argues that the ultimate sentence imposed shocks the conscious given his
lack of prior convictions for violent offenses, the fact he left the scene, and that he was
not aware the crime would become violent. Petitioner states that his sentence of life
without the possibility of parole “is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense and
[his] role in the offense as to shock the conscience and amounts to cruel and unusual
punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution
and Article I, Section VI of the Nevada Constitution.” (See Petition at pg. 11 of 14.)

In his “Supplemental Petition,” Petitioner focuses on Mr. Geller’s alleged
ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner argues that Mr. Geller was ineffective by
failing “to object and/or argue the Court’s unreasonable demand. The demand that the
acceptance of the plea was contingent upon all four (4) Defendants accepting their
respective negotiations.” (See Supplemental Petition at pg. 6 of 15).

Petitioner again states that the plea agreement resulted in the same, or a worse
outcome than if the case had gone to trial, because the State would not have been able
to prove its case. Had the case gone to trial, the “facts” would have been revealed,
including that the prosecution coached the victim into identifying Petitioner as one of
the people who harmed him. And trial could have shown Petitioner lacked the mental
capacity to orchestrate the ordeal.

According to Petitioner, Mr. Geller’s counsel constituted “as a “Trump Con’-
fraudulent legal representation,” because he told Petitioner’s parents that the sentence
would range between 15 to 25 years in prison if he accepted. Petitioner stated that his
parents then threatened him with loss of support if he did not accept the offer, which
left him no alternative but to take the guilty plea. Mr. Geller was paid $85,000.00 to
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defend and/or negotiate a fair sentence on behalf of petitioner. Petitioner stated Mr.
Geller failed to sever Petitioner’s case from the co-defendants, and provided a “lack of
legal representation” which “was a disgrace and amounted to beguilement.” (See
Supplemental Petition at pg. 6 of 15).

Petitioner argues that it is “very unlikely [Mr. Geller] spen[t] more than ten
hours working on this case, averaging $8,500.00 an hour. For this hourly rate he could
have tried to be an effective attorney or at the very, very minimum, negotiated the plea-
sentence.” (See Supplemental Petition at pg. 8 of 15.)

In his Supplement, Petitioner again argues that the Court’s sentence was
disproportionate, and constituted cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the
Eighth Amendment.

Finally, Petitioner also argues that an evidentiary hearing is necessary so that his
parents can testify about Mr. Geller’s alleged promise to induce Petitioner to accept the
plea offer. The evidence is necessary in order for the Court to determine if Petitioner
was afforded constitutionally sufficient advice so that he could intelligently and
knowingly waive his important constitutional trial.

The Court notes that the Petitioner attached as an exhibit to his Supplement, a
letter allegedly from his parents supporting his arguments regarding Mr. Geller.

With regard to the Petitioner’s request for appointment of counsel, Petitioner
argues that the Court should consider that his Writ of Habeas Corpus has real merit.
Further, the Court should consider the factual complexity of this case, the ability of the
indigent to investigate the facts, the existence of conflicting testimony, the ability of the
indigent to present his claim(s) and the complexity of the legal issues.

In Return, the State first notes the procedural and factual background of this
matter and the underlying criminal case. Because Petitioner’s Supplemental Petition
and Memo in Support were filed after he filed this Petition and filed without leave of
Court, the State argues those pleading should be stricken and/or any new claims or
allegations contained therein should be summarily denied, pursuant to NRS 34.750 (5).
Upon filing a Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus, NRS 34.750(5) prohibits a
petitioner from filing any additional pleadings or supplements, except for those

specifically provided for in subsections (2)-(4), unless ordered by the Court.
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With regard to Petitioner’s argument that his guilty plea was involuntary
because he was mentally incompetent during the plea canvass and “did not have the
mental capacity or fully understand his rights and did not know what he was facing
when he pled guilty,” the State contends this claim is bellied by the record.

To determine whether a guilty plea was voluntarily entered, the Court will review the
totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea. Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271,
721 P.2d at 367. A proper plea canvass should reflect that:

[TThe defendant knowingly waived his privilege against self-incrimination, the

right to trial by jury, and the right to confront his accusers; (2) the plea was

voluntarily, was not coerced, and was not the result of a promise of leniency; (3)

the defendant understood the consequences of his plea and the range of

punishments; and (4) the defendant understood the nature of the charge, i.e.,

the elements of the crime.

Wilson v. State, 99 Nev, 362, 367, 664 P.2d 328, 331 (1983) (citing Higby v. Sheriff, 86
Nev. 774, 476 P.2d 950 (1970)).

As an initial matter, Petitioner attempts to draw similarities between this case
and Wilkins v. Bowersox, 145 P.3d 1006 (8th Cir. 1998), but the State argues that
Eighth Circuit case law is irrelevant and inapplicable here, particularly in light of the
fact that the totality of the circumstances establish that Petitioner's plea was
voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered. First, Petitioner signed his GPA and
affirmed that he was "signing this agreement voluntarily, after consultation with [his]
attorney, and [was] not acting under duress or 'coercion[.]" (GPA, at pg. 5.) Petitioner
further affirmed that he was not "under the influence of any intoxicating liquor-, a
controlled substance or other drug which would in any manner impair [his] ability to
comprehend or understand [the] agreement or the proceedings surrounding [the] entry
of [the] plea." (GPA, at pg. 5).

Next, despite Petitioner's claim to the contrary, his answers during his plea
colloquy were not perfunctory affirmations. Petitioner's answers during the plea
canvass further bely any claim that Petitioner was not competent to plead guilty or did
not understand what he was pleading guilty to. See Recorder's Transcript of Hearing-
Entry of Plea ("RT: EOP"), at 45-6 (February 4, 2019).

Additionally, Petitioner's allegation that his plea was invalid because he was on
suicide watch in the days preceding his guilty plea is nothing but a bare and naked

allegation that his unsupported by the record. According to the sentencing
6
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memorandum filed by counsel prior to sentencing, Petitioner received three
neuropsychological evaluations on February 21, March 5, and March 7, 2019, after he
entered his plea. (Petitioner's Sentencing Memo at pg. 11). However, the only suicide
attempt mentioned in those evaluations is an incident from years prior to Petitioner's
incarceration. Id. at 15. Therefore, the claim that Petitioner was on suicide watch is
unfounded and belied by the reports provided by the defense in preparation for
sentencing. Accordingly, Petitioner's claim that he was not competent to plead guilty
fails.

In response to Petitioner’s argument that the guilty plea was entered into with
effective assistance of counsel, the State argues that this also fails. Petitioner
acknowledges that his sentence is legal but believes that his sentence is disproportion
and shocks the conscience because he did not have any prior criminal history, there was
no evidence of his DNA at the crime scene, and Petitioner suffers from various mental
conditions, and this also fails. The State argues that Petitioner's signature on his GPA
and answers during his plea canvass belie any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.
Petitioner claims that his counsel did not discuss the consequences of the plea on
Petitioner's immigration status, but this is completely unfounded and belied by the
record. By signing the GPA, Petitioner affirmed that he did understand the
immigration consequences. (See GPA, at pgs. 3-4). Moreover, during the plea canvass,
Petitioner and his attorney discussed the immigration consequence. (See RT: EOP, at
7-8). Additionally, this claim is belied by the record at sentencing. In the Sentencing
Memo, counsel stated, “the parole board may deem it appropriate to release him to
Immigration and Customs Enforcement for removal from the United States.” (See
Petitioner's Sentencing Memo at 7-8). During sentencing, Petitioner’s counsel
referenced the possibility of Petitioner's deportation to Mexico multiple times and even
used that fact to argue in favor of possible parole. Recorder's Transcript of Proceedings
Sentencing ("Sentencing Proceedings"), at 7,10 (March 26, 2019). Specifically, counsel
stated, "There is an ICE hold. If...the Court...granted the defense's request for parole
eligibility at 15 years...the parole board would have the option to say, you know what
federal government, now you can take Mr. Castro and deport him to Mexico...if the
Court sentences him to life without, no matter what the circumstances are, we're always

going to be paying for his incarceration.” Id. at 7-8. Additionally, Petitioner addressed

149




[+

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

15

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

the court and made no mention that he was never informed of or advised about
potential immigration consequences. (Id. at 10- 11). Therefore, Petitioner's claim that
he was not aware of the consequences of immigration fails as it is belied by the record.

With regard to Petitioner’s argument that counsel intimidated and lied to
Petitioner’s parents, in order to induce Petitioner into pleading guilty, this is a bare and
naked allegation suitable only for summary denial. In signing the GPA, Petitioner
confirmed that counsel "answered all of [Petitioner's] questions regarding [the] guilty
plea agreement and its consequences to [Petitioner's] satisfaction and [Petitioner was]
satisfied by the services provided by [his] attorney.” Additionally, when Petitioner
signed the GPA, he acknowledged that he understood that he was waiving his right to a
jury trial. (GPA at 4). Moreover, during the plea canvass, Petitioner confirmed that he
was waiving his right to challenge the evidence at trial. (RT: EOP, at 5-6). Further,
Petitioner has failed to articulate what other investigation or challenge to the evidence
counsel should have engaged in, prior to Petitioner's guilty plea that would have
resulted in Petitioner asserting his right to a jury trial in lieu of a guilty plea. This
failure is fatal. Hill. 474 U.S. at 59, 106 S.Ct. at 370 (1985). Accordingly, counsel cannot
be deemed ineffective. Specifically, Petitioner further confirmed that he was satisfied
with counsel during his plea canvass and affirmed that he had not been threatened into
pleading guilty RT: EOP, at 4-7.

Petitioner’s claim that counsel promised him a sentence of fifteen (15) years to
life, or any other sentence, is a bare and naked claim that is entirely belied by the
record. Petitioner's signed GPA first states that pursuant to the negotiations, while
counsel could argue for a sentence of fifteen (15) years to life, Petitioner understood he
was not guaranteed that sentence. GPA at 3. Petitioner's answers during the plea
canvass further confirms that Petitioner understood the terms of the negotiations and
belie any claim that he believed he would receive a particular sentence RT: EOP, at 6.
While counsel indeed argued during sentencing that Petitioner should receive a
sentence of fifteen (15) years to life (Sentencing Proceedings, at 10,) that the Court did
not honor that request does not render counsel deficient.

Petitioner's claim that his sentence of life without the possibility of parole
suggests that counsel was ineffective during the plea negotiations fails. Counsel filed a

sixty-eight (68) page sentencing memo, which included a detailed history of
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Petitioner's upbringing, a neuropsychological evaluation that was completed at
Attorney Geller's request, and multiple letters of support for Petitioner. In this
sentencing memo, Attorney Geller made a passionate argument for the possibility of
parole based on all of the applicable mitigating factors. Petitioner's Sentencing Memo
at 6-8.

Counsel then made a similarly passionate argument during the sentencing
hearing highlighting (1) Petitioner's lack of criminal history; (2) childhood trauma that
led to self-medicating with drugs; (3) the support Petitioner had from his family; (4)
Parole and Probation's recommended sentence of fifteen (15) years to life: (5)
Petitioner's consistent claim that he was not one of the people who handled the weapon
or touched the victim; (6) DNA results showing that Petitioner's DNA was not on the
weapon: (7) Petitioner's offer to take a polygraph test; and (8) surveillance camera
footage that Petitioner left the convenience store. Sentencing Proceedings at 6-10.
Indeed, the record is clear that the district court acknowledged that while a defendant's
lack of criminal history and obvious substance abuse problems tend to incline the court
to be merciful at sentence, neither factor negated the "horrific crimes” committed. Id.
at 23-24.

Further, the State also notes that Petitioner was sentenced with his three co-
defendants, all of whom entered into the same plea negotiations, and all of whom
received the same sentence of life without the possibility of parole. Of the other co-
defendants, only co-defendant Edward Honabach filed a Post-Conviction Writ of
Habeas Corpus ("Honabach's Petition"). See Horabach v. William Gittere, A-20-
812948-W, Petition Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus filed March 27, 2020). In
Honabach's Petition, Honabach made similar claims to those contained in this instant
Petition, in that he claimed his plea was involuntarily entered and his counsel was
ineffective because he was not advised that he could receive life without the possibility
of parole. Id. The Court summarily denied Honabach's Petition, finding that the Guilty
Plea Agreement and the record of plea canvass proceedings demonstrate that
Honabach's "guilty plea was made freely and voluntarily, and that he understood the
nature of the offense and the consequences of his plea.” Honabach v. William Gittere,
A-20-812948-W, Findings of Fact, Conclusion of Law and Order, at 2-3 (filed July 23,

2020). Because Petitioner raises factually similar claims, signed the same Guilty Plea
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Agreement, and was canvassed during the same proceeding as Honabach, the Court's
reasoning and denial of Honabach's petition suggests that Petitioner's instant petition
should be summarily denied.

With regard to Petitioner’s claim that his sentence is cruel and unusual, this is
not a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, nor is it a challenge to the validity of
Petitioner's guilty plea. Accordingly, it should have been raised on direct appeal, and is
beyond the scope of habeas proceedings and therefore waived. Franklin, 110 Nev. at
752, 877 P.2d at 1059. Further, Petitioner already raised this claim which was rejected
by the Nevada Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals already ruled that although Castro claimed his sentence
constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, the sentence falls within the parameters of
the relevant statute. See NRS 200.320(1)(a). He did not allege that the statute is
unconstitutional, and the Court concluded that the sentence imposed was not grossly
disproportionate to his crime and did not constitute cruel and unusual punishment.
Order of Affirmance, State v. Castro, Docket No: 78643-COA, at 3-4 (filed August 12,
2020).

Based on this ruling by the Court of Appeals, the State argues that this claim is
barred by the doctrine of law of the case. "The law of a first appeal is law of the case on
all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." Hall v. State, 91
Nev. 314, 315, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975) (quoting Walker v. State, 85 Nev. 337, 343. 455
P.2d 34, 38 (1969)). "The doctrine of the law of the case cannot be avoided by a more
detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the
previous proceedings.” Id. at 316, 535 P.2d at 799. Under the law of the case doctrine,
issues previously decided on direct appeal may not be reargued in a habeas petition.
Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 879, 34P.3d519, 532 (2001) (citing McNelton v. State,
115 Nev. 396, 414-15, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275 (1999)). Furthermore, this Court cannot
overrule the Nevada Supreme Court. NEV. CONST. Art. VI§ 6. Accordingly, by simply
continuing to file petitions with the same arguments, Petitioner's claim is barred by the
doctrine of the law of the case. Id.; Hall v. State, 91Nev.314, 316, 535 P.2d 797, 799
(1975).

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution as well as Article I,

Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution prohibit the imposition of cruel and unusual

10
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punishment. The Nevada Supreme Court has stated that "[a] sentence within the
statutory limits is not ‘cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing
punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably dispropoziiionate to
the offense as to shock the conscience.”’ Allred v. State, 120 Nev. 410, 92 P.2d 1246,
1253 (2004) (quoting Blume v. State, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d 282, 284 (1996)
(quoting Culverson v. State, 95 Nev. 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221-22 (1979)).
As long as the sentence is within the limits set by the legislature, a sentence will
normally not be considered cruel and unusual. Glegola v. State, 110 Nev. 344, 871 P.2d
950 (1994).

The Nevada Supreme Court has consistently echoed its standard of review for
claims of excessive criminal sentences: "[r]egardless of its severity, a sentence that is
'within the statutory limits is not 'cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute
fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably
disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience.”' Harte v. State, 132 Nev.
410, 373 P.3d 98 (2016) (internal quotations omitted). The Harte Court also expressly
held that it will "not review nondeath sentences for excessiveness.” Id. In this case,
Petitioner acknowledged as part of his guilty plea that the State would have the right to
argue for a sentence of life without the possibility of parole. While Petitioner views that
sentence as harsh, he was involved in the kidnapping, torturing, and mutilation of the
victim and an attempt to burn down the location of the crime after the defendants
believed the victim had died. In fact, the sentencing judge stated, "if you had been
successful in this, this would have been a capital murder case and you all would be
looking at potentially a capital sentence.” Therefore, the harshness of the penalty
imposed is not disproportionate to the crime. Further, in sentencing, the Court did
consider all of the mitigating factors Petitioner raises again here.

As for Petitioner’s request for appointment of counsel, the State argues that
Petitioner has not demonstrated that counsel should be appointed pursuant to NRS
34.750. Additionally, Petitioner's request should be summarily denied because all of his
claims are belied and repelled by the record. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686
P.2d 222. 225 (1984). Petitioner has failed to include any factual allegations in the
initial Petition that demonstrate counsel should be appointed. Although the

consequences Petitioner faces are severe as he is serving life without the possibility of
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parole, that fact alone does not require the appointment of counsel. The issues are not

difficult because Petitioner's claims are meritless and belied by the record as discussed
supra. Despite the claims' futility, Petitioner does not and cannot demonstrate that he

had any trouble raising the issue

Additionally, there has been no indication that Petitioner is unable to
comprehend the proceedings here. He managed to file a Motion to Withdraw Counsel,
this instant Petition, and two supplemental pleadings without the assistance of counsel.
Finally, counsel is not necessary to proceed with further discovery in this case.
Petitioner himself indicates that he has provided the Court with the information
needed to grant him relief. Due to habeas relief not being warranted, there is no need
for additional discovery, let alone counsel's assistance to conduct such investigation

Lastly, the State argues that Petitioner is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing.
All of the Petitioner's factual assertions are belied by the record in this case. Every
claim is nothing but a bare and naked assertion that is repelled by the record. As all of
Petitioner's claims fail, he has likewise failed to demonstrate that the record needs to be
expanded through an evidentiary hearing. Therefore, the Petition can be resolved on
the pleadings and an evidentiary hearing is not required, nor is Petitioner entitled to
one.

In Reply, Petitioner argues that it is perplexing and doubtful that an appellate
counsel would address his own ineffectiveness while he/she prepare[s] [a] brief on
direct appeal, on behalf of his/her client. He states that he is entitled to appointment of
counsel under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Petitioner
summarizes the same arguments he made in his other briefing, and adds that the
appointment of counsel is “the only humanly fair solution.”

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

As the “plea canvass” is at issue here, the Court herein reviews the entire plea

canvass pertaining to this Petitioner, as follows:

THE COURT: Okay. I've got to do a plea canvas with each of you individually.
I'm just going to do them in the order that they're in the pleadings. So We'll do
Luis Angel Castro first. The rest of you can sit down if you want.

Mr. Castro, give me your full legal [name].

THE DEFENDANT: Luis Angel Castro Morales.

THE COURT: How old are you, sir?

THE DEFENDANT: 32.

THE COURT: How far did you go in school.
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THE DEFENDANT: Tenth grade.

THE COURT: Do you read, write, and understand the English language?

THE DEFENDANT: The best I can.

THE COURT: What does that mean?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE COURT: Have you seen a copy of the amended information in this case
charging you with first degree kidnapping resulting in substantial bodily harm,
which is a category A. Have you seen that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Did you have a chance to read that and discuss it with your
attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have.

THE COURT: With regard to that charge, first degree kidnapping resulting in
substantial bodily harm, how do you plead, guilty or not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: Before I can accept your plea of guilty, I have to be convinced that
your plea is freely and voluntarily made. Are you making your plea freely and
voluntarily?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I am, sir.

THE COURT: Has anybody forced you or coerced you to enter that plea?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Are you making that plea because you're, in fact, guilty of that
charge?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Has anybody made any promises or guarantees to you other than
what's been stated in open court and what's contained in the guilty plea
agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: In looking at the guilty plea agreement, it looks like you signed
this on page 5. It's dated February 4. Did you read and sign that today?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Did you understand it before you signed it?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You had a chance to discuss it with your attorney, and he
answered any questions you might have had about it?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have.

THE COURT: You understand that by signing it, you're agreeing that you read
and understood it; correct?

THE DEFENDANT: That is correct.

THE COURT: Also by signing that document, you're agreeing to waive certain
important constitutional rights like the right to be able to confront your accuser,
go to trial and put on evidence on your own behalf. You understand that?
THE DEFENDANT: I understand, sir.

THE COURT: Are you currently suffering from any emotional or physical
distress that's caused you to enter this plea?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.
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THE COURT: Are you currently under the influence on any alcohol, medication,
narcotics or any substance that might affect your ability to understand these
documents or the process that we're going through?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Do you understand that in the guilty plea agreement it says that
the possibility of sentence is 15 to 40 years or for minimum of 15 years and a
maximum of life or life without parole? Do you understand that those are the
options?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you understand that sentencing is strictly up to the Court, and
nobody can promise you probation, leniency, or any kind of special treatment;
correct?

THE DEFENDANT: That's correct.

THE COURT: Do you have any questions that you want to ask of myself or the
State or your counsel before we proceed?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir,

THE COURT: Has your attorney made any promises to you that are not
contained in the guilty plea agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Based on all the facts and circumstances, are you satisfied with the
services of your attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Are you a U.S. citizen?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Do you understand that there are some charges that have adverse
immigration consequences and may result in deportation?

THE DEFENDANT: That is correct.

THE COURT: Have you had the chance to discuss any immigration issues with
your attorney, and he's answered any questions you have?

THE DEFENDANT: To this point, yes and no, but I'll just say yes.

MR. GELLER: Judge, I can represent to the Court, I've been in touch with his
immigration attorney, and we've been in communication. I did let my client
know today, as well as previously, that there's a substantial probability he'll be
deported after he serves a period of incarceration.

THE COURT: Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You still agree with the terms as set forth in the guilty plea
agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: So I have to go through the amended information with you to
make sure that there's a factual basis for your plea. According to the
information, it says that,

"On or about the 7th day of March 2016 in Clark County, Nevada, contrary to the
laws of the State of Nevada, you did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously seize,
confine, inveigle, entice, decoy, abduct, conceal, kidnap, or carry away Jose Ortiz
Salazar, a human

being, with the intent to hold or detain Jose Ortiz Salazar against his will and
without his consent for the purpose of committing murder and/or robbery with
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substantial bodily harm. The defendants being criminally liable under one or
more of the following princip[les] of criminal liability, to wit: One, by directly
committing the crime or by; two, aiding or abetting in the commission of the
crime with the intent that the crime be committed by counseling, encouraging,
hiring, commanding, inducing or otherwise procuring the other to commit the
crime; and/or, three, pursuant to conspiracy to commit the crime with the intent
that the crime be committed, the defendants aiding or abetting or conspiring,
defendants acting in concert throughout.” Is that what you did?

THE DEFENDANT: According to this, yes.

THE COURT: The question is, is that what you did?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Because, I mean, if you don't think that's what you did, then
you can't be freely and voluntarily accepting the plea.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You agree that's what you did; correct?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE COURT: All right. The Court hereby finds the defendant's plea of guilty is
freely and voluntarily made. He appears to understand the nature of the offense
and the consequences of the plea. I'll therefore accept your plea of guilty. We'll
refer this to the Division of Parole and Probation for preparation of the PSI.
We'll set for sentencing hearing for --

THE CLERK: March 26th, 8:30.

Transcript of Plea Canvass, 2/4/19.

In determining whether a guilty plea was voluntarily entered, the Court reviews
the totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea. Bryant, 102 Nev. at
271, 721 P.2d at 367. A proper plea canvass should reflect that:

[T]The defendant knowingly waived his privilege against self-incrimination, the
right to trial by jury, and the right to confront his accusers; (2) the plea was
voluntarily, was not coerced, and was not the result of a promise of leniency; (3)
the defendant understood the consequences of his plea and the range of
punishments; and (4) the defendant understood the nature of the charge, i.e.,
the elements of the crime.
Wilson v. State, 99 Nev. 362, 367, 664 P.2d 328, 331 (1983) (citing Higby v. Sheriff, 86
Nev. 774, 476 P.2d 950 (1970)).
The requirements of a proper plea canvass were met in the canvass conducted by
the Court on February 4, 2019.
Pursuant to NRS 34.810, “The court shall dismiss a petition if the court
determines that: (a) the petitioner’s conviction was upon a plea of guilty . . . and the

petition is not based upon an allegation that the plea was involuntarily or unknowingly
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entered or that the plea was entered without effective assistance of counsel.” NRS
34.810(1)(a).

Although the Defendant pled guilty, he is alleging that his plea was involuntary
or unknowingly entered, and he further is arguing ineffective assistance of counsel.

In considering a challenge relating to “ineffective assistance of counsel,” the U.S.
Supreme Court has stated the following;:

Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too
tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or
adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense
after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of
counsel was unreasonable. Cf. Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107, 133—134, 102 S.Ct.
1558, 1574—1575, 71 L.Ed.2d 783 (1982). A fair assessment of attorney
performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting
effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged
conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time.
Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must
indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range
of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the
presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action “might be
considered sound trial strategy.” See Michel v. Louisiana, supra, 350 U.S., at
101, 76 S.Ct., at 164. There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in
any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a
particular client in the same way. See Goodpaster, The Trial for Life: Effective
Assistance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases, 58 N.Y.U.L.Rev. 299, 343 (1983).

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689-690, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2066 (1984).

The Court indicated that there is a two-prong test: The first prong is “whether,
in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide
range of professionally competent assistance,” recognizing that “counsel is strongly
presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in
the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Strickland at 690. The second
prong is that “The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, bur
for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been
different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence
in the outcome.” Strickland at 694.

Performance of counsel is judged against an objective standard for
reasonableness and is deficient when it falls below that standard. State v. Powell, 122
Nev. 751, 759, 138 P.3d 453, 458 (2006); Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 103 P.3d 25

(2004); Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102 (1996).
16
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The Nevada Supreme Court has stated the following relating to the “prejudice”
requirement:

In meeting the “prejudice” requirement, the defendant must show a reasonable
probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been
different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068. When a conviction is
the result of a guilty plea, [t]he second, or “prejudice,” requirement ... focuses on
whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome
of the plea process. In other words, in order to satisfy the “prejudice”
requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability
that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have
insisted on going to trial.

Hillv. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59, 106 S.Ct. 366, 370, 88 1..Ed.2d 203 (1985)
(emphasis added); see also State v. Langarica, 107 Nev. 932, 933, 822 P.2d
1110, 1111 (1991), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 924, 113 S.Ct. 346, 121 L.Ed.2d 261
(1992). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine
confidence in the outcome.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068.

Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 988, 923 P.2d 1102 (1996).

In a very recent case, the Nevada Supreme Court summarized the analysis which
the Court should undertake when considering an ineffective assistance claim. The
Court stated the following:

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, a petitioner must show “(1) that
counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that the deficient performance
prejudiced the defense.” Kirksey, 112 Nev. at 987, 923 P.2d at 1107 (internal
quotation marks omitted) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687,
104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). The first prong of this test asks whether
counsel's representation fell “below an objective standard of reasonableness” as
evaluated from counsel's perspective at the time. Id. at 987-88, 923 P.2d at 1107.
The second prong asks whether there is “a reasonable probability that, but for
counsel's errors, the result of the [proceeding] would have been different.” Id. at
988, 923 P.2d at 1107. We give deference to the district court's factual findings if
supported by substantial evidence and not clearly erroneous, but we review the
court's application of the law to those facts de novo. Lader v. Warden, 121 Nev.
682, 686, 120 P.3d 1164, 1166 (2005). Both components of the inquiry must be
shown. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

Gonzales v. State, 137 Nev.Adv.Op. 40 (7/29/21).

With regard to the Petitioner’s argument that the Court’s sentence constitutes
“cruel and unusual punishment,” the Court of Appeals has already addressed that
argument, and their decision is the Law of the Case. The Court of Appeals stated the
following:

... Castro claims his sentence constitutes cruel and unusual punishment for the
following reasons. He did not have a history of violent offenses and was under
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the influence of drugs when he committed the crime. He was not aware that the
crime would become so violent and left when it became violent. His DNA was
not found on the weapon. He did not call the police because he was afraid that
his codefendants would harm his family. He has PTSD symptoms; bipolar
symptoms; and suffers from depression, anxiety, and drug addiction. And he
once attempted suicide.

Regardless of its severity, a sentence that is within the statutory limits is
not “cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is
unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the
offense as to shock the conscience.” Blume v. State, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d
282, 284 (1996)(quoting Culverson v. State, 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220,
221-22 (1979)); see also Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1000-01
(1991)(plurality opinion)(explaining the Eighth Amendment does not require
strict proportionality between crime and sentence; it forbids only an extreme
sentence that is grossly disproportionate to the crime).

Here, Castro’s life-without-the-possibility-of-parole sentence falls within
the parameters of the relevant statute. See NRS 200.320(1)(a). He does not
allege that the statute is unconstitutional. And we conclude the sentence
imposed is not grossly disproportionate to his crime and does not constitute
cruel and unusual punishment.

(Castro v. Nevada, Court of Appeals, Order of Affirmance dated 12/12/20, Case 78643-
COA).

As indicated above, the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution as
well as Article I, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution prohibit the imposition of cruel
and unusual punishment. The Nevada Supreme Court has stated that "[a] sentence
within the statutory limits is not 'cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute
fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably
disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience.”' Allred v. State, 120 Nev.
410, 92 P.2d 1246, 1253 (2004) (quoting Blume v. State, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d
282, 284 (1996) (quoting Culverson v. State, 95 Nev. 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220,
221-22 (1979)). And, as long as the sentence is within the limits set by the legislature, a
sentence will normally not be considered cruel and unusual. Glegola v. State, 110 Nev,
344, 871 P.2d 950 (1994). Petitioner argues now that his sentence is disproportionate
and shocks the conscience. While he may not have used the “buzz words,” of “shocks
the conscience” in his appeal, the Court of Appeals previously held that the sentence
was “not grossly disproportionate to his crime and does not constitute cruel and
unusual punishment.” Castro v. Nevada, Court of Appeals, Order of Affirmance dated
12/12/20, Case 78643-COA. The Court of Appeals already analyzed the Eighth
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Amendment argument of “cruel and unusual punishment,” and found against the
Petitioner on that issue. That ruling is the law of the case. Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314,
315, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975) (quoting Walker v. State, 85 Nev. 337, 343. 455 P.2d 34,
38 (1969)).

Although the Petitioner is now unhappy with his sentence, the Guilty Plea
Agreement (GPA) that he entered into specifically indicated the following:

This offer is conditional upon all four (4) Defendants accepting their
respective negotiations and being sentenced. All Parties agree the State will
have the right to argue for Life without the possibility of Parole, and the Defense
will argue for Life with the possibility of Parole after fifteen (15) years. All
parties agree that no one will seek the term of years.

GPA filed 2/4/19, at pg. 1.

At the Sentencing Hearing, defense counsel argued for Life “with” the possibility
of parole, and the State argued for Life “without” the possibility of parole. The
arguments were exactly what the Defendant agreed the arguments would be. When the
Court sentenced each of the Defendants, the Court stated the following:

I want to be merciful, but at the same time, I know that justice has to be
done. And we have a victim who, but for the fact that he lived against what you
all thought -- my understanding is not only was he tortured and mutilated in this
room for a period of time, for a period of hours, but that everybody thought he
was dead, tried to burn the house down around him. And if you had been
successful in this, this would have been a capital murder case and you all would
be looking at potentially a capital sentence.

I have a hard time with the pictures that I've seen and the horrible
injuries that were inflicted upon this poor victim. I understand that he is not the
pillar of our community either, but that doesn't justify the things that were done
to him over $50. And that almost makes it worse because that was the basis for
this, is him not being able to come up with $50.

So....I'm going to go ahead and sentence each of you to life in the
Nevada Department of Corrections without the possibility of parole. I
understand that that is a difficult sentence for you to have to deal with. It's a
difficult sentence for me to have to give, but I don't see any redeeming qualities.
I would like to be merciful, but I don't think that this is a crime that -- T don't
think the community wants you back out on the streets. So that will be the
sentence. I don't think credit time served matters.

(Transcript of Sentencing Hearing 3/26/19, pgs. 23-24).
The Petitioner argues that his plea was not entered freely and voluntarily, but his
claim is belied by the record, as set forth above. He acknowledged, both in his GPA and
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orally before the Court, what the possibilities would be, and he acknowledged that
sentencing was strictly up to the Court. Further he acknowledged that he had discussed
immigration issues with his attorney, and that he still wanted to enter into the GPA,
and accept the terms thereof. Based on the GPA and the plea canvass, and the totality
of the circumstances in the case, the Court finds that the Defendant’s guilty plea was
made freely and voluntarily, and that he understood the nature of the offense and the
consequences of his plea.

The Petitioner’s argument that counsel promised the Petitioner and Petitioner’s
family that he would receive fifteen (15) years to life, is a bare and naked allegation that
is unsupported in the record, and is actually belied by the record. Both the GPA signed
by the Petitioner, as well as the oral plea canvass, specifically informed the Petitioner
that the State would be arguing for life without the possibility of parole, and that
sentencing was at the discretion of the Judge.! Petitioner argues, and submitted a letter
from his parents, suggesting that counsel made misrepresentations to Petitioner’s
parents, but his parents did not accept the plea — Defendant did. And there is no
evidence that Defendant’s plea was anything but knowing, willing, and voluntary.

Further, Petitioner’s argument that counsel was ineffective for failing to inform

him of the immigration consequences of his plea, is equally belied by the record. 2

! The GPA specifically states, “I have not been promised or guaranteed any particular sentence by anyone. Iknow that

my sentence is to be determined by the Court within the limits prescribed by statute. Iunderstand that if my attorney or the
State of Nevada or both recommend any specific punishment to the Court, the Coutt is not obligated to accept the
recommendation.” (See GPA at pg. 3). Additionally, in the oral plea canvass, the following interaction occurred:
THE COURT; Do you understand that in the guilty plea agreement it says that the possibility of sentence is 15 to 40
years or for minimum of 15 years and a maximum of life or life without parole? Do you understand that those are the
options?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
THE COURT: Do you understand that sentencing is strictly up to the Court, and nobody can promise you probation,
leniency, or any kind of special treatment; correct?
THE DEFENDANT: That's correct.
(See Plea Canvass of 2/4/19.)
z In the GPA, signed by the Defendant, he agreed to the following:
I understand that if T am not a United States citizen, any criminal conviction will likely result in serious
negative immigration consequences including but not limited to:
1. The removal from the United States through deportation; . . .

Regardless of what I have been told by any attorney, no one can promise me that this conviction will not
result in negative immigration consequences and/or impact my ability to become a United States citizen and/or a
legal resident.

(See GPA at pg. 3)
Additionally, during the oral plea canvass, the following took place:
THE COURT: Are you a U.S. citizen?
THE DEFENDANT:; No, sir.
20
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In reviewing the Petitioner’s arguments regarding ineffective assistance of
counsel, in totality, the Court finds and concludes that the Petitioner has failed to meet
the standard set forth in Strickland. The Court finds that there is insufficient evidence
to support the conclusion that counsel’s actions were objectively unreasonable.
Further, there is insufficient evidence suggesting that the result of the proceeding
would have been different if counsel had said or done things differently. Consequently,
there is no prejudice to the Defendant.

Inasmuch as the Petition requested a “withdrawal of plea,” such request is
improper for a Writ of Habeas Corpus, but insofar as the issues have been addressed
herein, the request is denied.

Petitioner argues that at the time he entered his guilty plea he was heavily
medicated, not competent, and not able to understand the Constitutional rights he was

waiving. Such allegations are bare and naked allegations, and are belied by the record.3

THE COURT: Do you understand that there are some charges that have adverse immigration consequences
and may result in deportation?
THE DEFENDANT: That is correct.
THE COURT: Have you had the chance to discuss any immigration issues with your attorney, and he's
answered any questions you have?
THE DEFENDANT: Te this point, yes and ne, but I'll just say yes.
MR. GELLER: Judge, I can represent to the Court, I've been in touch with his immigration attorney, and
we've been in communication. I did let my client know today, as well as previously, that there's a substantial
probability he'll be deported after he serves a period of incarceration.
THE COURT: Do you understand that?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
THE COURT: You still agree with the terms as set forth in the guilty plea agreement?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
(See transcript of plea canvass 2/4/19).
3 The Petitioner was asked about his “understanding,” and whether he was under the “influence” of anything at the time
of the plea canvass, and he stated as follows:
THE COURT: In looking at the guilty plea agreement, it looks like you signed this on page 5. It's dated
February 4. Did you read and sign that today?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
THE COURT: Did you understand it before you signed it?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
THE COURT: You had a chance to discuss it with your attomey, and he answered any questions you might
have had about it?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have.
THE COURT: You understand that by signing it, you're agreeing that you read and understood it; correct?
THE DEFENDANT: That is correct.
THE COURT: Alse by signing that document, you're agreeing to waive certain important constitutional
rights like the right to be able to confront your accuser, go to trial and put on evidence on your own behalf.
You understand that?
THE DEFENDANT: I understand, sir.
THE COURT: Are you cutrently suffering from any emotional or physical distress that's caused you to enter
this plea?
THE DEFENDANT: No, sit,
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Petitioner requests an Evidentiary Hearing, but the issues he believes require an
evidentiary hearing have already been addressed by the Court, and the Petitioner’s
arguments are belied by the record. Consequently, the Court does not believe that an
Evidentiary Hearing would be necessary, and instead it would be a waste of judicial
resources.

With regard to the Petitioner’s request for appointment of counsel, NRS 171.188
provides that an indigent defendant may request appointment of counsel, and pursuant
to NRS 178.397, an indigent defendant accused of a felony or gross misdemeanor is
entitled to counsel at every stage of the proceedings, from the initial appearance
through appeal, unless he waives such appointment. But pursuant to Coleman v.
Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 752, 111 8.Ct. 2546, 2566 (1991), there is no Sixth Amendment
right to post-conviction counsel. See also McKague v. Warden, 112 Nev. 159, 163, 912
P.2d 255, 258 (1996). NRS 34.750 provides the Court with discretion to appoint post-
conviction counsel, after considering whether 1) the issues presented are difficult; 2)
the petitioner is unable to comprehend the proceedings; or 3) counsel is needed to
proceed with discovery. In analyzing these factors, this Court finds and concludes that
while many issues have been raised in the Petition, they do not appear to be “complex”
issues. The Petition is comprehensive and somewhat organized, especially for a pro-se
Petitioner, and consequently, the Court cannot find that Petitioner would be “unable to
comprehend the proceedings,” or need assistance in filing any documents, as he

appears to be very capable of doing so on his own. Finally, there is not even a

THE COURT: Are you curtrently under the influence on any alcohel, medication, narcotics or any substance
that might affect your ability to understand these documents or the process that we're going through?
THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.
(See transcript of plea canvass 2/4/19).
22
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suggestion that cliscovery is necessary., Consequently, The Petitioner’s request for
appointment of connsel must be denied.
ORDFR/CONCLUSTION

Based upon the foregoing, and good canse appearing,

1T IS HERERY ORDERED That the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus is hereby
DENIED. Petitioner’s request for an Evidentiary Hearing is also DENIED, And finally,

Petitioner’s vequest for appointment of coungel is also DENIED.

The Court requests that The State process the Notice of Entry relative to this
Ordler.

Because this matter has been decicled on the pleacings, the hearing schedhnled
for o/23/21 will be taken off calendar, and consequently, there is no need for any

parties or attornevs to appear,

Dated this 2‘_] _gf‘t'c]a\,i of September, 2021

-

A\

4F9 B1F 0283 78ED
Jerry A. Wiese
District Court Judge
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
Luis Castro, Plaintiff(s) CASE NO: A-21-835827-W
VS, DEPT. NO. Department 30

State of Nevada, Defendant(s)

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Electronic service was attempted through the Eighth Judicial District Court's
electronic filing system, but there were no registered users on the case.

If indicated below, a copy of the above mentioned filings were also served by mail
via United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, to the parties listed below at their last
known addresses on 9/22/2021

Luis Castro #1214547
ESP
P.O. Box 1989
Ely, NV, 89301
Steven Wolfson Clark County District Attorney

200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor
Las Vegas, NV, 89155
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Electronically Filed
10/19/2021 4:37 PM

' Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE CO!
Case No. A-2Z|~¥3887 T-n& Dept. No. _&‘J
IN THE (Z\ &HT H JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE

STATE OF NEVADA IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF C_|_ AR K

)
)
'{Lu o Castro . )

Petitioner/Plaintiff, ) NOTICE OF APPEAL
Vs, )
)
STATE oF Nevapa, )
Rcspondent/Defendant.—)
)
Notice is hereby given that Lf_u% CA'S'("QJJ , Petitioner/Defendant

above named, hereby appeals to the Court of Appeals for the State of Nevada from the final

judgment / order ( Perition For ettt oF-‘H%rﬂ-f: C&ﬂ.{)uﬁ Anany R

— . L
Yooz Moveo voe N P v Concset &ree Bu DENTIAZY Hmﬁ)

Entered in this action on the 2.1 =" day of Septerw st ,20 2.0,
Dated this_ 8"  dayof (Deween L2020, .

AppeHant — Pro Per

Ely State Prison

P.O. Box 1989

Ely, Nevada 89301-1989

202 81 (99
d3AI303y

Case Number: A-21-835827-W
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL

L M s Coaego , hereby certify pursuant to Rule 5(b) of the NRCP, that on

this _ 9™ day of Ocrunect , 20 24, T served a true and correct copy of the above-

entitled NoTiee e A pore

postage prepaid and addressed as follows:

AlL2on Twep S reyen) Wo lfaow
Neyaoa ,LTr@mj,{ Cocnanac  Claai Co. Tistryer Ao 200
(o0 Ne, Cromoo &t 2,00 Lizuns N«ef. %L e,
Cprasowd C <y v | s U'r:&/‘vee NIV,
Raiol-47iz LG4164 - 220
Signature
Print Name s Creng i 5T
EIy State Prison
P.O. Box 1989

Ely, Nevada 89301-1989
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AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

L_Lae Cpramtne NDOC# L2 (4547

CERTIFY THAT I AM THE UNDERSIGNED INDIVIDUAL AND THAT THE
ATTACHED DOCUMENT ENTITLED Nettes oc Ay oend

DOES NOT CONTAIN THE SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OF ANY

PERSONS, UNDER THE PAINS AND PENALTIES OF PERJURY.

DATED THIS __ ¥ \DAYOF @ e 20 2 .

SIGNATURE:

4

INMATEPRINTEDNAME: L_wis Conemo

INMATE NDOC # | 2\ 4$ 4.7

INMATE ADDRESS: ELY STATE PRISON
P.O0.BOX 1989
ELY,NV 89301
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL

Pursuant to NRCP Rule 5 (b}, I hereby certify that I am the Petitioner/Defendant named herein

and that on this_ ™ day of Oevwrcy. 20 2.1, I mailed a true and correct copy of this
foregoing__ Won ¢z Q& Isppope to the following;

INVAN N ¢ Co D4

Vo Ko, Carson SO Zmusoqe,w;.;' 52P 7L,
Copson Cive NV Los Nemas | agus
£570i—4717 B1ss-2212

(' ‘ﬂ'f HE Vi &:gai

T00 Liwin Iode, 2o
ks Verns, NV

B4t~ 1) 6o
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AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

L Law € e ,NDOC# _ \ 2145y

CERTIFY THAT I AM THE UNDERSIGNED INDIVIDUAL AND THAT THE
ATTACHED DOCUMENT ENTITLED _WoT1eé& ov My pope

DOES NOT CONTAIN THE SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OF ANY

PERSONS, UNDER THE PAINS AND PENALTIES OF PERJURY.

DATED THIS 8™ DAY OF o vt ,20_21 .

-, QAHS A OOJHLV

INMATE PRINTEDNAME: '—u¢ > Copaao

SIGNATURE:

INMATE NDOC # lzt A45¢7

INMATE ADDRESS: ELY STATE PRISON
P.0.BOX 1989
ELY,NV 89301
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL
Pursuant to NRCP Rule 5 (b), I hereby certify that I am the Petitioner/Defendant named herein
and that on this _&™ _day of Dequowesr. 20 2, I mailed a true and correct copy of this

foregoing _ N\yemi10e ge Agoont to the following:
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AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

I, L,Px.ub C,pr:;rrw ,NDOC# |2 (4% «47 ,
CERTIFY THAT I AM THE UNDERSIGNED INDIVIDUAL AND THAT THE

ATTACHED DOCUMENT ENTITLED _ Wociee o Apposnc

DOES NOT CONTAIN THE SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OF ANY
PERSONS, UNDER THE PAINS AND PENALTIES OF PERJURY.

DATEDTHIS %™ [DAYOF Oorprce .20 210 .
SIGNATURE: 4 ; Ar Qgi &w

INMATEPRINTEDNAME: _L~wi>  Casvnp

INMATE NDOC # 2 4547

INMATE ADDRESS: ELY STATE PRISON
P. 0. BOX 1989
'ELY, NV 89301
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ASTA

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE

LUIS ANGEL CASTRO,

VS,

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

STATE OF NEVADA IN AND FOR
THE COUNTY OF CLARK

Plaintiff(s), Dot N
ept No: XXX

Defendant(s),

CASE APPEAL STATEMENT

1. Appellant(s): Luis A. Castro

2. Judge: Jerry A. Wiese

3. Appellant(s): Luis A. Castro

Counsel:

Luis A. Castro #1214547
P.O. Box 1989
Ely, NV 89301

4. Respondent (s): The State of Nevada

Counsel:

A-21-835827-W

Steven B. Wolfson, District Attorney
200 Lewis Ave.
Las Vegas, NV 89155-2212

Case Number: A-21-835827-W
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Electronically Filed
10/20/2021 1:44 PM
Steven D. Grierson
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5. Appellant(s)'s Attorney Licensed in Nevada: N/A
Permission Granted: N/A

Respondent(s)’s Attorney Licensed in Nevada: Yes
Permission Granted: N/A

6. Has Appellant Ever Been Represented by Appointed Counsel In District Court: No
7. Appellant Represented by Appointed Counsel On Appeal: N/A
8. Appellant Granted Leave to Proceed in Forma Pauperis**: N/A

**Expires 1 year from date filed

Appellant Filed Application to Proceed in Forma Pauperis: No
Date Application(s) filed: N/A

9. Date Commenced in District Court: June 7, 2021
10. Brief Description of the Nature of the Action: Civil Writ
Type of Judgment or Order Being Appealed: Civil Writ of Habeas Corpus
11. Previous Appeal: No
Supreme Court Docket Number(s): N/A
12. Child Custody or Visitation: N/A
13. Possibility of Settlement: Unknown

Dated This 20 day of October 2021.

Steven D. Grierson, Clerk of the Court

/s/ Amanda Hampton

Amanda Hampton, Deputy Clerk
200 Lewis Ave

PO Box 551601

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-1601
(702) 671-0512

cc: Luis A. Castro

A-21-835827-W -2-
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THE COUNTY OF CLARK
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ept No: XXX
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Luis A. Castro #1214547
P.O. Box 1989
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5. Appellant(s)'s Attorney Licensed in Nevada: N/A
Permission Granted: N/A

Respondent(s)’s Attorney Licensed in Nevada: Yes
Permission Granted: N/A

6. Has Appellant Ever Been Represented by Appointed Counsel In District Court: No
7. Appellant Represented by Appointed Counsel On Appeal: N/A
8. Appellant Granted Leave to Proceed in Forma Pauperis**: N/A

**Expires 1 year from date filed

Appellant Filed Application to Proceed in Forma Pauperis: No
Date Application(s) filed: N/A

9. Date Commenced in District Court: June 7, 2021
10. Brief Description of the Nature of the Action: Civil Writ
Type of Judgment or Order Being Appealed: Civil Writ of Habeas Corpus
11. Previous Appeal: No
Supreme Court Docket Number(s): N/A
12. Child Custody or Visitation: N/A
13. Possibility of Settlement: Unknown

Dated This 20 day of October 2021.

Steven D. Grierson, Clerk of the Court

/s/ Amanda Hampton

Amanda Hampton, Deputy Clerk
200 Lewis Ave

PO Box 551601

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-1601
(702) 671-0512

cc: Luis A. Castro

A-21-835827-W -2-
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A-21-835827-W

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Writ of Habeas Corpus COURT MINUTES

August 23, 2021

A-21-835827-W Luis Castro, Plaintiff(s)
VS.
State of Nevada, Defendant(s)

August 23, 2021 3:00 AM Minute Order

HEARD BY: Wiese, Jerry A. COURTROOM: Chambers
COURT CLERK: Lauren Kidd

RECORDER:

REPORTER:

PARTIES
PRESENT:

JOURNAL ENTRIES

- At the request of Court, for judicial economy, the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and Motion of
Appointment of Counsel currently scheduled for August 26, 2021 is RESCHEDULED to September,

23 2021 at 8:30 a.m.

CLERK'S NOTE: A copy of the above minute order was distributed to Luis Angel Castro,

ESP#1214547, P.O. Box 1989, Ely, NV 89301.

PRINT DATE:  11/23/2021 Page1of1 Minutes Date:  August 23, 2021
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Certification of Copy and
Transmittal of Record

State of Nevada } SS
County of Clark .

Pursuant to the Supreme Court order dated November 9, 2021, I, Steven D. Grierson, the Clerk of the
Court of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, State of Nevada, do hereby certify that the
foregoing is a true, full and correct copy of the complete trial court record for the case referenced below.
The record comprises one volume with pages numbered 1 through 182.

LUIS ANGEL CASTRO,
Plaintiff(s), Case No: A-21-835827-W
vs. Dept. No: XXX
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Defendant(s),

now on file and of record in this office.

IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto
Set my hand and Affixed the seal of the
Court at my office, Las Vegas, Nevada

This 23 day of November 2021.

Steven D. Grierson, Clerk of the Court

MWWW

Heather Ungermann, Deputy Clerk





